Thermophysical Properties of 1-Hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide, [C₆mim] [(CF₃SO₂)₂N]—New Data, Reference Data, and Reference Correlations

Cite as: J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data **49**, 043101 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0023160 Submitted: 27 July 2020 . Accepted: 26 October 2020 . Published Online: 15 December 2020

ம X. Paredes, ம C. S. G. P. Queirós, ம F. J. V. Santos, ம A. F. Santos, ம M. S. C. S. Santos, 🕩 M. J. V. Lourenço, and 🝺 C. A. Nieto de Castro



READ TODA

ARTICLES YOU MAY BE INTERESTED IN

Recommended Values for the Viscosity in the Limit of Zero Density and its Initial Density Dependence for Twelve Gases and Vapors: Revisited from Experiment between 297 K and 691 K

Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data **49**, 043102 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0023688

Extremal quantum states

AVS Quantum Science 2, 044701 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1116/5.0025819

A method of flight path and chirp pattern reconstruction for multiple flying bats Acoustics Research Letters Online **6**, 257 (2005); https://doi.org/10.1121/1.2046567



Journal of Physical and Chemical Reference Data

SPECIAL TOPIC: Solubility Reference Data Collection

J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data **49**, 043101 (2020); https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0023160 © 2020 Author(s). **49**, 043101

ARTICLE

Thermophysical Properties of 1-Hexyl-3methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl) imide, $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ –New Data, Reference Data, and Reference Correlations

Submitted: 27 July 2020 • Accepted: 26 October 2020 •	à
Nublished Online: 15 December 2020	1
Published Online. IS December 2020	ine

X. Paredes, (D) C. S. G. P. Queirós, (D) F. J. V. Santos, (D) A. F. Santos, (D) M. S. C. S. Santos, (D) M. J. V. Lourenço, D and C. A. Nieto de Castro^{a)}

AFFILIATIONS

Centro de Química Estrutural, Faculdade de Ciências, Universidade de Lisboa, Campo Grande, 1749-016 Lisboa, Portugal

a)Author to whom correspondence should be addressed: cacastro@ciencias.ulisboa.pt

ABSTRACT

Published data on the thermophysical properties of ionic liquids are normally in disagreement if results from different laboratories, using different samples and different measurement protocols, are compared. This fact was recognized years ago at the level of the International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry (IUPAC), which established IUPAC Project 2002-005-1-100 (Thermodynamics of ionic liquids, ionic liquid mixtures, and the development of standardized systems), with the main objective of recommending a reference ionic liquid, making reference-quality measurements on selected thermophysical properties of both the pure ionic liquid and its mixtures, establishing recommended values for the properties measured, and providing recommendations on measurement methods. The ionic liquid chosen was 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide, $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$, because of its stability, low viscosity compared with that of most common ionic liquids, low water solubility, ease of preparation and purification, and commercial availability. Due to its hydrophobicity, it is capable of being obtained very pure, with water amounts as small as 20 ppm. This paper reports new results obtained with the sample of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ synthesized in the IUPAC project, namely on density, speed of sound, surface tension, and refractive index, as well as thermal conductivity of a commercial sample at P = 0.1 MPa, as a function of temperature, and proposes reference data and reference data correlations for the density, speed of sound, heat capacity, surface tension, viscosity, electrical conductivity, thermal conductivity, refractive index, ion self-diffusion coefficient, and melting temperature of this ionic liquid at 0.1 MPa, as a function of temperature, using these and other data reported up to July 2020. Rheological measurements demonstrated that this ionic liquid is Newtonian.

Published by AIP Publishing on behalf of the National Institute of Standards and Technology. https://doi.org/10.1063/5.0023160

Key words: 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide; density; electrical conductivity; heat capacity; ion self-diffusion coefficient; ionic liquid; melting point temperature; reference correlations; reference data; refractive index; speed of sound; surface tension; thermal conductivity; thermophysical properties; viscosity; Walden rule.

CONTENTS

1.	Introduction	3		2.2.5. Rheology	16
2.	New Experimental Data	4		2.3. Results	16
	2.1. Material and sample handling	4		2.3.1. Density and speed of sound	16
	2.2. Methods of property measurement	5		2.3.2. Surface tension	16
	2.2.1. Density and speed of sound	5		2.3.3. Refractive index	19
	2.2.2. Surface tension	5		2.3.4. Thermal conductivity	22
	2.2.3. Refractive index	5	3.	The Establishment of Reference Data Correlations	22

15

2.2.4. Thermal conductivity



	3.1. Experimental techniques and data selection	22			
	3.2. The concept of primary and secondary data for				
	ionic liquids	23			
	3.3. Correlation procedures	23			
4.	Results and Discussion	23			
	4.1. Density	24			
	4.2. Speed of sound	29			
	4.3. Heat capacity at constant pressure	30			
	4.4. Surface tension	32			
	4.5. Viscosity	34			
	4.6. Electrical conductivity	36			
	4.7. Thermal conductivity	36			
	4.8. Refractive index	40			
	4.9. Ion self-diffusion coefficient	41			
	4.10. An inter-property consistency check	43			
	4.11. Some comments about the normal melting				
	temperature	44			
5.	Tabulations	45			
6.	Cautions in the Use of Tabulated Thermophysical				
	Properties	45			
7.	Conclusions	45			
8.	Supplementary Material 47				
9.	Authors' Contributions	47			
	Acknowledgments	47			
10.	Data Availability	47			
11.	References	47			

List of Tables

				$[(CE_sO_s)_sN]$ as a function of temperature
1.	Density and speed of sound for $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ at			of data available
	$P = 0.1 \text{ MPa} \dots \dots$	4	12	Deviations between the primary data for
2.	Surface tension of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ at $P = 0.1$ MPa	4	15.	tension of [C mim][(CE SO) N] as a f
3.	Refractive index of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ at $P = 0.1$ MPa	5		tension of $[C_6 \text{IIIIII}][(C\Gamma_3 SO_2)_2 N]$ as a final tension excitone.
4.	Thermal conductivity of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ at $P = 0.1$			temperature
	MPa	5	14.	Deviations between the secondary data for
5.	Available data for the density of [C ₆ mim][(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N],			tension of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a fi
	classified as primary and secondary	6		temperature
6.	Available data for the speed of sound of [C ₆ mim]		15.	Recommended variation of the surface tension
	[(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N], classified as primary and secondary	14		$[(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature .
7.	Available data for the heat capacity of [C ₆ mim]		16.	Deviations from all the datasets for the w
	[(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N], classified as primary and secondary	17		[C ₆ mim][(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N] as a function of tempe
8.	Available data for the surface tension of [C ₆ mim]		17.	The viscosity of [C ₆ mim][(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N] at
	[(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N], classified as primary and secondary	20		obtained from different sets of water-free pr
9.	Available data for the viscosity of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$,			as a function of the water content of the
	classified as primary and secondary	25		samples
10.	Available data for the electrical conductivity of [C ₆ mim]		18.	Deviations between the primary data for the
	[(CF_3SO_2) ₂ N], classified as primary and secondary	31		[C ₆ mim][(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N] as a function of tempe
11.	Available data for the thermal conductivity of [C ₆ mim]		19.	Deviations between the secondary data
	[(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N], classified as reference and secondary	34		viscosity of [C ₆ mim][(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N] as a f
12.	Available data for the refractive index of [C ₆ mim]			temperature
	[(CF_3SO_2) ₂ N], classified as primary and secondary	37	20.	Recommended variation of the viscosity o
13.	Available data for the self-diffusion of [C ₆ mim]			$[(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature .
	[(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N], classified as reference and secondary	42	21.	The electrical conductivity of [C ₆ mim][(CF ₃
14.	Available publications for the normal melting temperature of			a function of temperature for all sets of data a
	[C ₆ mim][(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N], classified as reference and secondary	44	22.	Deviations of the primary data for the
15.	Recommended reference data for the thermophysical			conductivity of [C ₆ mim][(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N] from
	properties of [C ₆ mim][(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N] as a function of tem-			posed reference correlation as a fu
	perature at $P = 0.1$ MPa	46		temperature

List of Figures

1.	Shear stress vs shear rate at different temperatures for	
	$[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N] \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots \dots $	4
2.	Deviations from all the datasets for the density of [C ₆ mim]	
	$[(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$, smaller than ±0.6%, as a function of	
	temperature	12
3.	Deviations between the primary data for the density	
	of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature .	12
4.	Deviations between the secondary data for the density of	
	$[C_{\rm min}][(CE_{\rm s}SO_{\rm s})_{\rm s}N]$ as a function of temperature	13
5	Recommended variation of the density of [C mim]	10
5.	[(CE SO)] N] as a function of temperature	13
6	$[(Gr_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature \ldots	15
0.	sound of [C mim][(CE SO) N] as a function of	
	sound of $[C_6 mm][(Cr_3 SO_2/2N]]$ as a function of temperature	16
7	Decommended variation of the speed of sound of [C mim]	10
7.	Recommended variation of the speed of sound of $[C_6 mm]$	16
0	$[(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature	10
0.	The heat capacity at constant pressure of $[C_6 \text{IIIIII}]$	
	[(CF35O2/21N] as a function of temperature for all sets	10
0	Deviations between the primery data for the best conseity	10
9.	f[C] =	10
10	of $[C_6 \text{Imm}][(CF_3 SO_2)_2 N]$ as a function of temperature .	19
10.	posity of [C mim][(CE SO) N] as a function of	
	pacity of $[C_6 \text{IIIIII}][(CF_3 SO_2)_2 N]$ as a function of temperature	10
11	Pacommanded variation of the best canacity of [C mim]	19
11.	Recommended variation of the near capacity of $[C_6 mm]$	10
12	The surface tension at constant pressure of [C mim]	19
12.	[(CE SO)] N] as a function of temperature for all sets	
	of data available	22
13	Deviations between the primary data for the surface	22
15.	tension of [C.mim][(CE.SO.).N] as a function of	
	temperature	23
1.4	Devictions between the second and data for the surface	25
14.	tension of [C mim][(CE SO) N] as a function of	
	temperature	24
		24
15.	Recommended variation of the surface tension of $[C_6mim]$	
	$[(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature	24
16.	Deviations from all the datasets for the viscosity of	
1.7	$[C_6 \text{mim}][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature	24
17.	The viscosity of $[C_6 \text{mim}][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ at 298.15 K	
	obtained from different sets of water-free primary data	
	as a function of the water content of the measured	20
10	Deviations between the primary data for the viscosity of	29
10.	C mim [(CE SO)] N] as a function of temperature	20
10	$[C_6]$ $[C_7] [C_7] [C$	29
19.	viscosity of [C mim][(CE SO) N] as a function of	
	Viscosity of $[C_6 \text{IIIIII}][(CF_3 SO_2)_2 N]$ as a function of temperature	20
20	Decommended variation of the viscosity of [C mim]	50
20.	[(CESO)] N as a function of temperature	20
21	$[(GF_3OO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature	30
21.	The electrical conductivity of $[C_6 \text{mim}][(CF_3 \delta O_2)_2 \text{N}]$ as	22
22	a function of the primary data for the electrical	32
44.	conductivity of [C, mim][(CE SO) N] from the pro-	
	nosed reference correlation as a function of	
	temperature	32
	temperature	55

ARTICLE

23.	Deviations of the secondary data for the electrical	
	conductivity of [C ₆ mim][(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N] from the	
	proposed reference correlation as a function of	
	temperature	33
24.	Recommended variation of the electrical conductivity of	
	[C ₆ mim][(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N] as a function of temperature	33
25.	The thermal conductivity of [C ₆ mim][(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N] as	
	a function of temperature for all sets of data available	34
26.	Deviations between the selected data for the thermal	
	conductivity of [C ₆ mim][(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N] as a function of	
	temperature	36
27.	Recommended variation of the thermal conductivity	
	of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature	36
28.	The refractive index (sodium D line) of [C ₆ mim]	
	[(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N] as a function of temperature for all sets	
	of data available	40
29.	Deviations of the refractive index of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$	
	at 298.15 K from their average (line).	40

1. Introduction

Published data on the thermophysical properties of ionic liquids are normally in disagreement to an extent that exceeds the mutual uncertainty of the data published and assigned by the authors from different laboratories, using different samples and different measurement protocols. This situation and its possible reasons were analyzed a decade ago by Nieto de Castro,¹ who found that the situation was very different from that found for molecular liquids, mostly due to improper sample characterization and handling, its purity, water and ion content, and improper use of available instrumentation and measurement protocols. It was then recommended that "all those that want to measure thermophysical properties of ionic liquids to measure them well, because the errors in their measurement can produce a tremendous effect on the upcoming design of heat and mass transfer equipment for chemical and energy plants, as demonstrated by the work of Franca et al.² This attitude will pave the way for the correct development of alternatives today in all important fields for economic development and sustainability. And ionic liquids can be key chemicals for the future."

This fact was recognized several years before at the level of the International Union of Pure and Applied Chemistry (IUPAC), which established IUPAC Project 2002-005-1-100 (Thermodynamics of ionic liquids, ionic liquid mixtures, and the development of standardized systems), with the main objective of recommending a reference ionic liquid, making reference-quality measurements on selected thermophysical properties of both the pure ionic liquid and its mixtures, establishing recommended values for the properties measured, and providing recommendations on measurement methods. The ionic liquid chosen was 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide, [C₆mim][(CF₃SO₂)₂N] (CAS RN 382150-50-7), because it is stable, has a low viscosity compared with that of most common ionic liquids, has a low water solubility, and is easily prepared and purified. In addition, due to its hydrophobicity, it is capable of being obtained very pure, with water amounts as small as 20 ppm.

The project started with the synthesis of the chosen ionic liquid, its chemical and physical characterization, purity determination

30.	Deviations between the primary data for the refractive index	
	of [C ₆ mim][(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N] as a function of temperature	40
31.	Deviations between the secondary data for the refractive	
	index of [C ₆ mim][(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N] as a function of	
	temperature	41
32.	Recommended variation of the refractive index of	
	[C ₆ mim][(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N] as a function of temperature	41
33.	Available data for the self-diffusion coefficients of	
	$[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N] \dots \dots$	43
34.	Deviations between the reference data for the ionic self-	
	diffusion coefficients of [C ₆ mim][(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N] as a func-	
	tion of temperature	43
35.	Recommended variation of the ion self-diffusion coeffi-	
	cient of [C ₆ mim][(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N] as a function of	
	temperature	44
36.	Walden rule verification for $[C_{cmim}][(CF_{3}SO_{2})_{2}N]$	44
37.	The normal melting temperature of [C _e mim]	
	$[(CF_2SO_2)_2N] \dots \dots$	45
	[(5 2/2]	10

(namely, water content), and the establishment of a round robin test for the different thermophysical properties with samples sent by the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST), Boulder Laboratories, to all the project participants. Results were published in two reference papers, one dedicated to the experimental results obtained with the IUPAC samples by Marsh *et al.*³ and the second dedicated to their critical evaluation and recommended property values by Chirico *et al.*⁴ The properties measured of the pure ionic liquid included thermal properties (triple-point temperature, glasstransition temperature, enthalpy of fusion, and heat capacities of condensed states), volumetric properties, speeds of sound, viscosity, electrolytic conductivity, and relative permittivity, and recommended values with uncertainties were provided for the properties studied experimentally.

Two main reasons recommend the revision of the reference correlations recommended then. One is the fact that the work performed in a short period of time with the IUPAC samples was not complete and the other is that many papers were published between 2008 and 2020 with experimental data on the thermophysical properties of $[C_6 \text{mim}][(CF_3 \text{SO}_2)_2 \text{N}]$, namely at atmospheric pressure, done with the IUPAC sample, synthesized in authors' laboratory (HS), and with commercial samples, all chemically and physically characterized and with water content determination.

It is the purpose of this paper to report new results obtained with the sample of $[C_6mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ synthesized in the IUPAC project, namely on density, speed of sound, surface tension, and refractive index, and thermal conductivity with a commercial sample, at P = 0.1 MPa, as a function of temperature, and to use these and other data reported up to mid-July 2020 to establish reference data and reference data correlations for the density, speed of sound, heat capacity at constant pressure, viscosity, surface tension, electrical conductivity, thermal conductivity, refractive index, and self-diffusion coefficient of this ionic liquid, at 0.1 MPa, as a function of temperature. Details of the rheological measurements performed in our laboratory demonstrate that this ionic liquid is a Newtonian fluid.

The metrological definitions of ISO for uncertainty (absolute and relative) and expanded global uncertainty (at a 95% confidence



FIG. 1. Shear stress vs shear rate at different temperatures for [C₆mim][(CF₃SO₂)₂N].

level, k = 2) are used throughout this work. Deviations of experimental data from a correlation are defined as DEV (%) = $(X_{exp} - X_{corr})/X_{corr} \times 100$.

2. New Experimental Data

In this section, the new data obtained in our laboratory are presented. Comparison with other published data, when appropriate, is made in the framework of reference data and development of correlations (Sec. 4).

2.1. Material and sample handling

Due to our participation in the IUPAC Project,^{3,4} we received from NIST a sample of the ionic liquid, part of a batch synthesized by Dr. Mark Muldoon in Professor Joan Brennecke's laboratories at the University of

TABLE 1. Density and speed of sound for $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ at $P = 0.1 \text{ MPa}^a$

<i>T</i> (K)	ho (kg m ⁻³)	$c (m s^{-1})$
283.15	1385.89	1262.22
288.15	1381.26	1250.08
293.15	1376.54	1238.27
298.15	1372.01	1226.52
303.15	1367.39	1215.06
308.15	1362.63	1203.76
313.15	1358.07	1192.64
318.15	1353.49	1181.67
323.15	1348.94	1170.90

^aStandard uncertainties, *u*, are u(T) = 0.01 K, u(P) = 1 kPa, $u(\rho) = 0.07$ kg m⁻³, and u(c) = 0.3 m s⁻¹. Expanded uncertainties are $U(\rho) = 0.14$ kg m⁻³ and U(c) = 0.6 m s⁻¹ at a 95% confidence level (k = 2).

Notre Dame and described by Widegren and Magee,⁵ with a purity >99.5% (by NMR), a bromide content lower than 10 ppm, and a water content below 20 ppm. It was then used for measurements of viscosity and electrical conductivity described by Santos *et al.*⁶ Special care was taken in the manipulation of the liquid and in the uncertainty budget of the measurements. As $[C_6mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ is hygroscopic, the water content of samples collected from the measuring cells (viscometer and conductivity cell) before and after the measurements was determined by coulometric Karl Fisher titration. The rest of the sample was used to measure the density, speed of sound, surface tension, and refractive index, controlling the amount of water present when each property was measured. The amount was not enough for the measurement of thermal

TABLE 2. Surface tension of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ at $P = 0.1 \text{ MPa}^a$

<i>T</i> (K)	$\gamma (\text{mN m}^{-1})$
289.00	32.16
292.20	31.93
292.27	31.90
293.67	31.86
298.32	31.64
303.25	31.44
306.10	31.32
306.80	31.33
311.79	31.05
311.80	31.06
320.53	30.70
328.50	30.28
336.20	29.99

^aStandard uncertainties, *u*, are u(T) = 0.1 K, u(P) = 1 kPa, and u(y) = 0.04 mN m⁻¹. Expanded uncertainty is U(y) = 0.08 mN m⁻¹ at a 95% confidence level (k = 2).

J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data 49, 043101 (2020); doi: 10.1063/5.0023160

Published by AIP Publishing on behalf of the National Institute of Standards and Technology

conductivity, and a commercial sample (IoLiTec, Germany, purity >99.90%) was bought, with a water content of 33 ppm and halide content less than 50 ppm. For each property measurement, the required amount of ionic liquid was carefully drawn from the transport/storage Schlenk tube using glass syringes (plastic in the case of the refractive index), stainless-steel needles, and Teflon tubing, always under a protective blanket of dry nitrogen, and introduced into the measuring cells.

2.2. Methods of property measurement

2.2.1. Density and speed of sound

Density, ρ , and speed of sound, *c*, were measured with an Anton Paar DSA-5000 in the temperature range between 283.15 K and 323.15 K. The densimeter was previously calibrated with high quality Millipore[®] water and tetrachloroethylene (H&D Fitzgerald, density certified, https://density.co.uk/products/liquid-standards/), with the calibration methodology.⁷ Due to the high viscosity of the ionic liquid, the density values were corrected for extra damping, as recommended by the densimeter manufacturers. Calibration of the speed-of-sound cell was made at 293.15 K with Milli-Q water, according to the manufacturer recommendation. Uncertainty has been estimated by a complete uncertainty analysis, and details for ionic liquids are described in recent papers.^{8,9} The temperature inside the densimeter cell was controlled with a PT100 to within 0.001 K and measured with an uncertainty of 0.02 K (k = 2). The water content of the samples was 0.003%, so its effect was negligible for both properties measured.^{5,10}

The standard uncertainties of density and speed of sound measurements were found to be $u(\rho) = 0.07$ kg m⁻³ and u(c) = 0.3 m s⁻¹, respectively.¹¹ Expanded relative uncertainties at a 95% confidence level (k = 2) are, respectively, $U(\rho) = 0.14$ kg m⁻³ and U(c) = 0.6 m s⁻¹.

2.2.2. Surface tension

The surface tension, γ , of $[C_6 \text{mim}][(CF_3 \text{SO}_2)_2 \text{N}]$ was measured with a K100MK2 tensiometer from Kruss GmbH, based on force measurements, with a 10 µg resolution precision balance using a platinum Wilhelmy plate. The measurements were made at atmospheric pressure for temperatures between 288 K and 343 K. Samples were transferred from the supplied glass storage (Schlenk tube) to lidded custom-made micro PTFE (polytetrafluoroethylene) sample vessels (~2 ml) under dry nitrogen atmosphere. PTFE was chosen to exclude the possibility of stainless-steel attack by ionic liquids with fluoride-containing anions.^{12,13} The initial water content (weight fraction, in %) was checked by coulometric titration by the Karl Fisher method with a Metrohm 831 KF coulometer and found to have a value of 0.08%.

The sample vessels were thermostated inside an aluminum block placed in the tensiometer's double-jacketed stainless-steel thermostatic sleeve by means of a circulating water bath (HAAKE DC30/K10) controlled within 0.1 K. The sample temperature was monitored with an independent external Pt 100 thermometer placed in a hole drilled in the aluminum block close to the sample vessel and corrected for the temperature drop across the thermostatic media, resorting to a correlation between the temperatures registered by the Pt 100 sensor and a calibrated thermistor placed inside the sample vessel in the same position where the surface tension was measured. The tensiometer was calibrated with standard masses provided by the manufacturer, and before each measurement, at all temperatures, the calibration was further checked with grade 1 water from a Milli-Q apparatus.

TABLE 3.	Refractive index	of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ at $P = 0.1 \text{ MPa}^a$
----------	------------------	--

<i>T</i> (K)	$n_{\rm D}$
283.15	1.434 61
288.15	1.433 11
293.15	1.431 60
298.15	1.430 12
303.15	1.428 62
308.15	1.427 15
313.15	1.425 66
318.15	1.424 14
323.15	1.422 62
328.15	1.421 16
333.15	1.419 69
338.15	1.418 27
343.15	1.416 84

^aExpanded relative uncertainty is U(n) = 0.000 16 at a 95% confidence level (k = 2).

The curved roughened Wilhelmy platinum plate was rinsed with ethanol and water and finally flame cleaned in a Bunsen burner to eliminate any contamination before every measurement. Surface tension measurements were performed under dry nitrogen atmosphere on samples equilibrated in the lidded sample vessels for at least 2 h, the liquid surface being flushed with dry nitrogen before each measurement.

For each temperature, at least four independent sets of 10 immersion/detachment cycles were performed, values of which verified the temperature stabilization and allowed the determination of an average surface tension over at least 40 surface tension values. The estimated average uncertainty of the experimental measurements is $U_r(\gamma) = 1\%$ (k = 2.02 for n = 40 at 95%). In order to evaluate the effect of the water content on the surface tension, measurements obtained on a heating cycle were checked on a cooling cycle and deviations smaller than 0.21% were obtained, which were slightly larger than those obtained in an independent evaluation of another fresh sample (0.16%) but well within measurement uncertainty.

2.2.3. Refractive index

The refractive index, n, of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ was measured with a digital refractometer (Anton Paar, Abbemat 500) calibrated at

TABLE 4. Therma	al conductivity of	[C ₆ mim][(CF	3SO ₂) ₂ N] at	t <i>P</i> = 0.1 MPa
-----------------	--------------------	--------------------------	---------------------------------------	----------------------

<i>T</i> (K)	$\lambda (W m^{-1} K^{-1})$
285.54	0.1242
295.26	0.1250
304.95	0.1249
305.14	0.1249
315.46	0.1264
325.63	0.1268
335.67	0.1276
345.89	0.1283
355.87	0.1280

^aExpanded relative uncertainty is $U(\lambda) = 2\%$ at a 95% confidence level (k = 2).

TABLE 5. Available data for the density of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$, classified as primary and secondary. Methods of measurement, temperature and pressure ranges, quoted uncertainty, sample purity, and water content are identified

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	$(\%)^{\circ}$	Purity class ^c	Observations
				Primar	y data				
Kumelan <i>et al.</i> $(2006)^{27}$	VT	293.15-373.15	0.1	9	0.06	IUPAC	0.002	PDSA	Description in Sec. 2.1
Kandil <i>et al.</i> (2007) ²⁸	VT	298.15-423.15	0.1-40	28	0.30	IUPAC	0.041	PDSA	Description in Sec. 2.1
Widegren and Magee (2007a) ⁵	VT(S)	278.15-373.15	0.1	19	0.01	IUPAC	0.001	PDSA	Description in Sec. 2.1
(2007a) Widegren and Magee $(2007b)^5$	VT	283.15-343.15	0.1	16	0.01	IUPAC	0.001	PDSA	Description in Sec. 2.1
Esperança <i>et al.</i> $(2008)^{29}$	VT	293.15-338.15	0.1-65	163	0.05	IUPAC	0.002	PDSA	Description in Sec. 2.1
Lago <i>et al.</i> (2011) ³⁰	VT	298.15	0.1	1	0.02	HS	0.087	PDSA	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, dried by vacuum heating, and analy- sis by proton NMR spectroscopy
Shirota <i>et al.</i> (2011) ³¹	VT	297	0.1	1	0.59	HS	0.0256	PDSA	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, dried under vac- uum for 3 days at 35 °C to remove impurities, and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy
Gomes <i>et al.</i> (2012) ³²	VT	288.15-328.15	0.1	5	0.10	HS	0.006	PDSA	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, dried by vacuum heating, and analy- sis by proton NMR
Gonzalez <i>et al.</i> (2012) ³³	VT	288.15–313.15	0.1	5	0.08	IoLiTec	0.007	D	Commercial source. Prior to its use, the compound was subjected to vac- uum (0.2 Pa) at 60 °C until the density value
Oliveira <i>et al.</i> (2012) ³⁴	VT	298.15	0.1	1	0.08	IoLiTec	0.0307	PDSA	remained constant Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, dried by vacuum heating, and analy- sis by proton NMR spectroscopy
Safarov <i>et al.</i> (2013) ³⁵	VT	273.13-413.17	0.1–50	266	0.2	Merck	0.03	D	Dried under vacuum for 48 h at 70°C to remove impurities

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	$\frac{w_{water}}{(\%)^c}$	Purity class ^c	Observations
Diogo <i>et al.</i> $(2013)^{36}$	VT	288.15-328.15	0.1	17	0.08	IoLiTec	0.005	D	Dried by vacuum heating $(70^{\circ}C)$
(2013) Iguchi <i>et al.</i> $(2014)^{37}$	B-HB	312.6-452.3	0.1–90	168	0.13	Merck	0.002	MPNP	Used as received from the manufacturer
Harris and Kanakubo (2015) ³⁸	VT(S)	238.15-363.15	0.1	20	0.09	HS	0.0002	PDSA	Dried under vacuum at about 70 °C for 30 h to remove any excess water and purity determina- tion by NMR analysis
Kanakubo and Harris (2015) ³⁹	VT	273.15-363.15	0.1	39	0.06	HS	0.003	D	Dried by vacuum heating (60 °C)
Nazet <i>et al.</i> $(2015)^{40}$	VT	278.15-363.15	0.1	18	0.21	IoLiTec	0.0014	MPNP	Used as received from the manufacturer
Fillion <i>et al.</i> (2016) ⁴¹	VT	283.15-353.15	0.1	16	0.74	HS	0.007	PDSA	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, dried by vacuum heating, and analy- sis by proton NMR spectroscopy
Skowronek et al. (2016) ⁴²	ISOC-PV	288.15-363.15	0.1	9	0.02	HS	0.01	D	Dried with vacuum for 2 h and anhy- drous phosphorous pentoxide
Xue et al. (2016) ⁴³	VT	283.15-313.15	0.1	7	0.07	HS	0.008	PDSA	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, dried by vacuum heating, and analy- sis by NMR spectroscopy.
Zorebski <i>et al.</i> (2016) ⁴⁴	VT	293.15–363.15	0.1	15	0.01	HS	0.0092	D	Synthesized by others; purification by spectroscopy, Karl Fischer titration, and fraction melt- ing in an adiabatic calorimeter; and
Fillion and Brennecke (2017) ⁴⁵	VT	283.15-353.15	0.1	16	0.30	HS	0.002	PDSA	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, dried by vacuum heating, and analy- sis by proton NMR spectroscopy

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	$\frac{w_{\text{water}}}{(\%)^{c}}$	Purity class ^c	Observations
Andresová <i>et al.</i> (2017) ⁴⁶	VT	293.15-343.15	0.1	11	0.04	IoLiTec	0.036	PDSA	Decolorized by stir- ring with dichloro- methane and active carbon powder for 24 h and by passing through a chroma- tography column, dried under vac- uum for at least 16 h at 60 °C, and anal- ysis by ion chromatography
Vranes <i>et al.</i> $(2019)^{47}$	VT	283.15-323.15	0.1	9	0.36	Sigma- Aldrich	0.015	MPNP	Used as received from the manufacturer
Song <i>et al.</i> (2020) ⁴⁸	VT	283-333	0.1	7	0.20	IoLiTec	0.05	D	Commercial source, analysis by NMR (proton), and dried at 333 K under high vacuum for at least 48 h to remove any volatiles including water
Present work	VT	283.15-323.15	0.1	9 Seconda	0.01 rv data	IUPAC	0.003	PDSA	Description in Sec. 2.1
Dzyuba and Bartsch (2002) ⁴⁹	VT	298.15	0.1	1	0.59	HS	NA	NA	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory and no details of purity
Fitchett <i>et al.</i> (2004) ⁵⁰	РҮС	295.1	0.1	1	0.11	HS	0.073	D	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory and dried under vacuum for 4 h at 70°C-80°C to remove residual water
Aki <i>et al.</i> (2004) ⁵¹	РҮС	298.20-333.20	0.1	4	0.03	HS	0.016	PDSA	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, dried under vac- uum for 48 h at 75 °C to remove re- sidual water, and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy
Azevedo <i>et al.</i> (2005) ⁵²	VT	298.15-333.15	0.1–59.5	156	0.07	HS	0.0075	D	Purified by vacuum evaporation and purity upknown
Kato and Gmehling (2005) ⁵³	VT	293.15-358.15	0.1	14	0.37	Merck	NA	D	Dried by vacuum heating

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	w _{water} (%) ^c	Purity class ^c	Observations
Tokuda <i>et al.</i> (2005) ⁵⁴	VT	288.15-313.15	0.1	6	1	HS	0.001	PDSA	Synthesized in authors' laboratory, dried under vacuum for 48 h to remove re- sidual water, and purity determina- tion by NMR and MS analysis
Lachwa <i>et al.</i> $(2006)^{55}$	VT	293-303	0.1	21	0.31	IUPAC	0.002	PDSA	Description in Sec. 2.1
(2006) ⁵⁶	VT	288.15-313.15	0.1	6	0.15	HS	0.004	PDSA	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, analysis by mass spectrometry, and dried by vacuum heating
Jacquemin <i>et al.</i> (2008) ⁵⁷	VT	293.15-363.15	0.1	8	0.36	HS	0.005	PDSA	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, ion chromatogra- phy, and dried by vacuum heating
McHale <i>et al.</i> (2008) ⁵⁸	VT	298.15	0.1	1	0.37	HS	0.089	PDSA	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, ion chromatogra- phy, and dried by vacuum heating
Muhammad $et al. (2008)^{59}$	VT	298.15-358.15	0.1	7	0.19	Merck	0.0268	D	Dried by vacuum heating
Tariq <i>et al.</i> (2009) ⁶⁰	VT	293.15-333.15	0.1	4	0.16	HS	0.015	D	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory and dried under vacuum for 48 h at 60 °C-80 °C to remove impurities
Ahosseini et al. (2010) ⁶¹	VT	283.15-348.15	0.1	4	0.19	HS	0.035	PDSA	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, dried under vac- uum for 48 h at 50 °C to remove impurities, and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy
Fröba <i>et al.</i> (2010) ⁶²	VT	273.15-363.15	0.1	18	0.21	HS	0.0086	PDSA	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, dried under vac- uum for 4 h at 60 °C to remove impuri- ties, and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	$\frac{w_{water}}{(\%)^{c}}$	Purity class ^c	Observations
Kolbeck <i>et al.</i> (2010) ⁶³	VT	278.15-308.15	0.1	7	0.01	HS	0.0008	PDSA	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, dried after prepa- ration in vacuum at 40 °C for 24 h, and analysis by NMR
Tariq <i>et al.</i> (2010) ⁶⁴	VT	293.15-473.15	0.1	19	0.41	HS	0.007	PDSA	spectroscopy Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, dried under vac- uum for 6 h at 60 °C to remove impuri- ties, and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy
Yunus <i>et al.</i> (2010) ⁶⁵	VT	298.15	0.1	1	0.13	HS	NA	PDSA	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, dried under vac- uum for 3 days at 35 °C to remove impurities, and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy
Akbar and Murugesan (2012) ⁶⁶	VT	303.15-323.15	0.1	5	0.11	Merck	0.023	PDSA	Analysis by HPLC and dried by vacuum heating
Seoane <i>et al.</i> (2012) ⁶⁷	VT	293.15-343.15	0.1	11	0.56	IoLiTec	0.007	D	Dried under vacuum for 70 h at 40 °C to remove impurities
Cade <i>et al.</i> (2014) ⁶⁸	VT	288.15-318.15	0.1	4	0.6	IoLiTec	0.015	PDSA	Dried under vacuum for 48 h at 40 °C to remove impurities and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy
Gonzalez- Miquel <i>et al.</i> $(2014)^{69}$	VT	298.15-323.15	0.1	3	0.81	IoLiTec	NA	MPNP	Used as received from the manufacturer
Matsuda <i>et al.</i> $(2014)^{70}$	BV	298.15	0.1	1	0.96	Merck	0.01	MPNP	Used as received from the manufacturer
Souckova <i>et al.</i> $(2014)^{71}$	VT	263.98-364.78	0.1	21	0.54	Solvent Innov- ation	0.001	PDSA	Analysis by NMR and dried by vacuum heating
Tenney <i>et al.</i> $(2014)^{72}$	BHB	288.15-363.15	0.1	9	0.31	HS	0.0018	MPNP	Used as received from the manufacturer
Calado <i>et al.</i> (2015) ⁷³	VT	288.15-328.15	0.1	5	0.11	IoLiTec	0.0026	D	Dried by vacuum heating (80 °C)

TABLE 5.	(Continued.)
----------	--------------

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	$\frac{w_{water}}{(\%)^{c}}$	Purity class ^c	Observations
Gonzalez <i>et al.</i> (2015) ⁷⁴	VT	283.15	0.1	1	0.57	IoLiTec	0.06	D	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory and dried under vacuum for 48 h to remove impurities
Montalban <i>et al.</i> (2015) ⁷⁵	VT	293.15-343.15	0.1	6	0.09	IoLiTec	0.0015	PDSA	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, dried under vac- uum for 30 h at 70 °C to remove impurities, and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy
Salinas <i>et al.</i> (2015) ⁷⁶	VT	278.15-338.15	0.1	4	0.19	IoLiTec	0.05	PDSA	Dried under vacuum for 1 week at 40 °C to remove impuri- ties and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy
Montalban <i>et al.</i> (2016) ⁷⁷	VT	303.15	0.1	1	1.1	IoLiTec	0.0089	PDSA	Dried under vacuum for 1 week at 40 °C to remove impuri- ties and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy
Papovic <i>et al.</i> (2016) ⁷⁸	VT	273.15-323.15	0.1	11	0.81	IoLiTec	0.0154	D	Dried with anhydrous phosphorous pentoxide
Polikhronidi et al. (2016) ⁷⁹	VT	325.26; 350.36	0.1	2	0.24	IoLiTec	0.007	D	Dried with anhydrous phosphorous pentoxide

^aB-HB, Buoyancy-Hydrostatic Balance; ISOC-PV, Isochoric PV measurements; VT, Vibrating Tube; VT(S), Vibrating Tube, Staudinger model; and HS, synthesized in authors' laboratory.

^bIUPAC sample, as described in text, and HS, synthesized in authors' laboratory.

^cNA, Not Available.

293.15 K by the manufacturer with standards from PTB (Physikalisch-Technische Bundesanstalt, Germany) for the sodium D line (wavelength: 589.26 nm). The uncertainty in the temperature measurement is 0.03 K. Calibration was checked with water and *n*-hexadecane, as explained in Sec. 3.5 of Ref. 9. As reported there, the use of a refractometer single calibration point at 293.15 K, made by the manufacturer, is not enough for higher temperature measurements, requiring a correction to the measured values, which increases with temperature, and this was obtained from the water data reported by Marsh.¹⁴ At the highest temperature (353 K), the correction is -0.0004, which is greater than the uncertainty of data. Since our last publication,⁹ we have introduced a flow cell in the refractometer (Abbemat No. 101 380) to avoid contact of the liquid sample with the atmosphere, close to the measuring section, but just for filling. During the measurements, the liquid is stagnant. This accessory limits evaporation and gas dissolution, stabilizing the measurements. Calibration was checked by measuring the refractive index of water between 283.15 K and 343.15 K. Two sets of 13 points were measured in different days, and deviations between them and with the data used in the development of calibration correction⁹ were never bigger than 0.000 05 RI units, the flow cell not altering significantly the data obtained. For our IUPAC sample, we studied three samples, one by increasing the temperature, the second by lowering the temperature to 283.15 K, and finally, in sample 3, increasing it again up to 343.15 K. For each temperature, a set of 7 measurements were taken. The agreement between the UP sets is better than 0.000 035 RI units, becoming slightly higher with the DOWN set (0.0004 RI units above 70 °C). Therefore, the data reported are based on sample 1 and sample 3 (average values at each temperature).







FIG. 3. Deviations between the primary data for the density of $[C_6 min][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature. Also shown are deviations from the previous correlation proposed by Chirico *et al.*⁴ within the IUPAC project. The dashed line represents the uncertainty of the correlation of ±0.08%.



FIG. 4. Deviations between the secondary data for the density of [C₆mim][(CF₃SO₂)₂N] as a function of temperature. The red dashed line marks the correlation high-temperature limit (380 K).



FIG. 5. Recommended variation of the density of [C₆mim][(CF₃SO₂)₂N] as a function of temperature. Primary data and new correlation are shown.

TABLE 6. Available data for the speed of sound of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$, classified as primary and secondary. Methods of measurement, temperature and pressure ranges, quoted uncertainty, sample purity, and water content are identified

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned un- certainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	w _{water} (%)	Purity class	Observations
				Primary	,				
Widegren and Magee (2007) ⁵	DSA 5000	283.15-343.15	0.1	16	0.083	IUPAC	0.001	PDSA	Description in Sec. 2.1
González <i>et al.</i> (2012) ³³	SAT-FPI	288.15-328.15	0.1	5	0.096	IoLiTec	0.007	D	Commercial source. Prior to its use, the com- pound was sub- jected to vacuum (0.2 Pa) at 60 °C until the density value remained constant
Seoane <i>et al.</i> (2012) ⁶⁷	SAT-FPI	293.15–343.15	0.1	11	0.17	IoLiTec	0.007	D	Commercial source; purifica- tion stated by the supplier, initial purity of 99 mass %, final purity of 0.007 water mass %, and 0.01 ha- lide impurity mass %; and dried under vac- uum for 48 h at 70 °C to remove impurities
Salinas <i>et al.</i> (2015) ⁷⁶	SAT-FPI	278.15-338.15	0.1	4	0.05	IoLiTec	0.05	D	Commercial source; initial purifica- tion stated by the supplier, initial purity of 99.9 mass %; and final purification by Karl Fischer ti- tration, final pu- rity of 0.05 water mass % (molecu- lar sieve treatment)
Skowronek <i>et al.</i> (2016) ⁴²	PE	323.37	0.1–100	1	0.08	HS	0.0101	PDSA	Synthesized by the authors; initial purification stated by the supplier, initial purity of 99.95 mass %; and final purification by Karl Fischer ti- tration, final pu- rity of 0.0101 water mass %

TABLE 6. (Continued.)

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned un- certainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	w _{water} (%)	Purity class	Observations
Zorebski <i>et al.</i> (2016) ⁴⁴	PE	293.09–318.36	0.1	6	0.097	HS	0.0092	PDSA	Synthesized by others; purifica- tion by spec- troscopy, Karl Fischer titration, and fraction melting in an adiabatic calo- rimeter; and pu- rity of 99.5% (basis not specified)
Andresova <i>et al.</i> (2017) ⁴⁶	DSA5000	288.15-343.15	0.1	12	0.080	IUPAC	0.017	PDSA	Commercial source, NMR analysis, and dried before ev- ery experiment for at least 16 h under vacuum (8–10 mbar) at ~60 °C
				Secondar	У				
Frez <i>et al.</i> (2006) ⁸⁰	TGT	293.15	0.1	1	0.89	HS	NA	PDSA	Synthesized by the authors, purity analysis (NMR) by chemical re- agent treatment, and dried by vacuum heating (60 °C)

^aTGT, Transient Grating Technique; SAT-FPI, Sing-Around Technique in a Fixed-Path Interferometer; PE, Pulse-Echo method; and DSA 5000/M, Density and Speed of Sound Analyzer. ^bNote that the IUPAC sample is as described in text and HS means synthesized in authors' laboratory.

The water weight fraction of sample 1 varied between 0.051% and 0.057%, while that of sample 3 varied between 0.036% in the beginning of experiments and 0.091% in the end. An average value of the water content of the reported data was assumed to be 0.06% (see Sec. 4.8 and the supplementary material).

Data were corrected by using the calibration function developed in Ref. 9. The estimated expanded uncertainty (k = 2) is U(n) = 0.000162.

2.2.4. Thermal conductivity

The thermal conductivity, λ , of $[C_6mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ was measured using commercial equipment from Hukseflux Thermal Sensors TPSYS02 and a Non-Steady-State Probe (NSSP) TP08 with an accuracy of ± 0.02 W m⁻¹ K⁻¹ and a temperature accuracy of ± 0.02 K, as described in Ref. 8. The correct operation of this instrument was assessed by measurements with water, an IUPAC standard reference liquid. The data obtained for a sample of Milli-Q water between 283.6 K and 344.8 K deviated by less than 0.8% from the IUPAC SRD correlation,¹⁵ a very

good sign of excellent operation. The expanded global relative uncertainty of the data was found to be $U_r(\lambda) = 2\%$ (k = 2). The tests for [C₆mim] [(CF₃SO₂)₂N] were performed between 285.54 K and 355.87 K at atmospheric pressure. For temperatures above 323.15 K, the probe had to be removed and cleaned and the sample had to be equilibrated for longer times to reduce convection currents. In order to detect a possible onset of convection, in a recent paper,¹⁶ detailed measurements with water around room temperature were performed, with three different power inputs in the THW probe (LOW, MEDIUM, and HIGH), giving temperature rises between 0.25 K and 0.70 K. No curvature in the straight-line fits, $\Delta T_{\rm rise}$ vs ln t, was found, and no power dependence existed. These results also support that there is no convection in these measurements and that the working model for the transient hot-wire is valid, capable of producing results at room temperature within 0.55% standard deviation, confirming our previous statements¹⁵ of $U_r(\lambda) = 2\%$ at a 95% confidence level (k = 2). As the viscosity of [C₆mim][(CF₃SO₂)₂N] at room temperature is 60 times greater than that of water, it is expected that no convection exists on the measurements reported here.



FIG. 6. Deviations between the primary data for the speed of sound of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature. Also shown are deviations from the previous correlation proposed by Chirico *et al.*⁴ within the IUPAC project. The dashed line represents the uncertainty of the correlation of ±0.08%.

The water weight fraction of the sample was measured before (0.0033%) and after the experiments (0.015%). As the experiments were performed in a week, a mean value of 0.009% was assigned to the water content.

2.2.5. Rheology

The results of viscosity reported before⁶ require a proof that our ionic liquid is Newtonian in order to develop the reference correlation. To our knowledge, none of the works published before on viscosity have demonstrated this fact. Measurements of shear stress vs shear rate were done in an AR1500EX Rheometer with a 40 mm parallel plate of stainless steel using a shear rate from $0.000 \, 01 \, s^{-1}$ to $7000 \, s^{-1}$. It is a controlled stress, strain, and rate rheometer that comes standard with a wide shear stress range [0.008 Pa–12 000 Pa], ultrahigh resolution [0.04 µrad], and high angular velocity [300 rad/s]. A





Peltier plate allowed the test between 273.15 K and 393.15 K, with an accuracy of 0.1 K, at atmospheric pressure under a stream of dry nitrogen. Figure 1 displays the results obtained, where a proportionality between the shear stress, σ , and the shear rate can be seen, whose constant is the viscosity of the liquid. Slopes are constant to within 1%. This is the behavior of Newtonian liquids.¹⁷ These results validate all the viscosity results obtained with Newtonian liquid instrumentation reported in Secs. 2.3 and 4.

2.3. Results

2.3.1. Density and speed of sound

The results obtained for the density and speed of sound are displayed in Table 1. The dependence on temperature of density is linear and can be expressed as follows:

$$\rho(\text{kg m}^{-3}) = a_1 + a_2 T(\text{K}), \tag{1}$$

whose coefficients are $a_1 = (1647.73 \pm 0.48)$ kg m⁻³ and $a_2 = (-924.9 \pm 1.6) \times 10^{-3}$ kg m⁻³ K⁻¹, with a standard deviation of 0.12 kg m⁻³ at a 95% confidence level (k = 2). No data depart from the fit by more than ± 0.1 kg m⁻³. For the case of speed of sound, the temperature dependence was found to be quadratic and can be expressed by Eq. (2), whose coefficients are $b_1 = (2250.41 \pm 6.88)$ m s⁻¹, $b_2 = (-4.549 \pm 0.045)$ m K⁻¹ s⁻¹, and $b_3 = (3.74 \pm 0.08) \times 10^{-3}$ m K⁻² s⁻¹, with a standard deviation of 0.07 m s⁻¹, also at a 95% confidence level (k = 2), and no point deviating by more than 0.05 m s⁻¹,

$$c(m s^{-1}) = b_1 + b_2 T(K) + b_3 T(K)^2.$$
 (2)

2.3.2. Surface tension

The results obtained for the surface tension are displayed in Table 2. The dependence on temperature was found to be linear and can be expressed as follows:

TABLE 7. Available data for the heat capacity of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$, classified as primary and secondary. Methods of measurement, temperature and pressure ranges, quoted uncertainty, sample purity, and water content are identified

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	$\frac{w_{water}}{(\%)^c}$	Purity class	Observations
				Primar	y				
Blokhin <i>et al.</i> (2006a) ⁸¹	AC (SS)	188.06-368.29	0.1	112	0.4–1.0	IUPAC	0.0005	PDSA	Description in Sec. 2.1
Blokhin <i>et al.</i> $(2006b)^{81}$	AC (SS)	194.39-367.68	0.1	65	0.4-1.0	IUPAC	0.0005	PDSA	Description in Sec. 2.1
Blokhin <i>et al.</i> $(2006)^{81}$	AC (SS)	272.03-370	0.1	12	0.4–1.0	IUPAC	0.0005	PDSA	Description in Sec. 2.1
Blokhin <i>et al.</i> (2006d) ⁸¹	AC (SS)	190-272.03	0.1	10	0.4–1.1	IUPAC	0.0005	PDSA	Description in Sec. 2.1
Shimizu <i>et al.</i> (2006) ⁸²	VAC	272.1-310	0.1	6	1.3	IUPAC	0.0002	PDSA	Description in Sec. 2.1
Bochmann and Hefter (2010) ⁸³	TCmDSC	325.02-555.24	0.1	18	0.6	IUPAC	0.011	PDSA	Description in Sec. 2.1
Rocha <i>et al.</i> (2012) ⁸⁴	DC	298.15	0.1	1	0.95	IoLiTec	0.01	PDSA	Dried by vacuum heating
Zorebski <i>et al.</i> (2016) ⁴⁴	TCmDSC	293.15-323.15	0.1	13	3.8	HS	0.0005	PDSA	Source synthesized by others; purification by spectroscopy, Karl Fischer titra- tion, and fraction melting in an adi- abatic calorimeter; and purity of 99.5%
Andresova <i>et al.</i> (2017) ⁴⁶	TCmDSC	294.15-398.15	0.1	55	3.8	IoLiTec	0.017	PDSA	Commercial source; final purification by NMR analysis, final purity of 99.964 mass %; and dried before every experiment for at least 16 h under vacuum (8–10 mbar) at 60 °C
				Seconda	ry			5	
$\frac{\text{Crosthwaite et al.}}{(2005)^{85}}$	DSC (LS)	298–323	0.1	2	10	HS	0.0031	D	No information on purity. Dried by
Archer (2006) ⁸⁶	DSC (SS)	196-370	0.1	164	2	IUPAC	0.002	PDSA	IUPAC sample, but data highly com- plex and scattered, especially at low temperatures
Diedrichs and Gmehling (2006a) ⁸⁷	DSC (SS)	320.15-425.15	0.1	22	5	Merck	NA	DGF	No information on the purity. Degassed
Diedrichs and Gmehling (2006b) ⁸⁷	DSC (LS)	318.17-418.13	0.1	21	5	Merck	NA	DGF	No information on the purity. Degassed

TABLE 7. (Continued.)

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	$\frac{w_{water}}{(\%)^c}$	Purity class	Observations
Diedrichs and Gmehling (2006) ⁸⁷	MDSC	323.15-413.15	0.1	19	6	Merck	NA	DGF	No information on the purity. Degassed
Ge et al. (2008) ⁸⁸	DSC (SS)	293–358	0.1	14	5.2	HS	0.0023	D	No information on purity. Samples dried overnight at 343 K under high vacuum
Hughes <i>et al.</i> (2011) ⁸⁹	DSC (LS)	302.86-372.64	0.1	15	3.3	HS	0.01	D	No information on purity. Samples heated in an oven to 343 K in vacuum for 48 h
Gomez <i>et al.</i> (2013) ⁹⁰	DSC (SS)	293.15-333.15	0.1	41	10	IoLiTec	0.005	MPFP	Manufacturers stated purity. Samples heated in an oven to 343 K in vacuum for 48 h
Polikhronidi et al. (2014) ⁹¹	AC-LV	329.07-479.69	0.1	422	6.9	IoLiTec	0.007	MPNP	Manufacturers stated purity. No further purification

^aDSC (LS), Large Sample (1 g) Scanning Calorimetry; DSC (SS), Small Sample (50 mg) Scanning Calorimetry; AC (SS), Small Sample (<1 g) Adiabatic Calorimetry; MDSC, Modulated-Temperature Differential Scanning Calorimetry; VAC, Vacuum Adiabatic Calorimetry; TCmDSC, Tian–Calvet Differential Microcalorimeter; and DC, High-Precision Drop Calorimetry.

^bNote that the IUPAC sample is as described in text and HS means synthesized in authors' laboratory. 'NA, Not Available.



FIG. 8. The heat capacity at constant pressure of $[C_6mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature for all sets of data available. Also shown is the IUPAC correlation, valid for 190 < T/K < 370 (clearer in the inset, it follows Blokhin data⁸¹ which were used for its development).



FIG. 9. Deviations between the primary data for the heat capacity of $[C_6min][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature. Also shown are deviations from the previous correlation proposed by Chirico *et al.*⁴ within the IUPAC project. The dashed line represents the uncertainty of the correlation of ±0.35%.



FIG. 10. Deviations between the secondary data for the heat capacity of $[C_6mim]$ $[(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature. Also shown are deviations from the previous correlation proposed by Chirico *et al.*⁴ within the IUPAC project. The dashed line represents the uncertainty of the correlation of $\pm 0.35\%$.



whose coefficients are $c_1 = (45.039 \pm 0.206) \text{ mN m}^{-1}$ and $c_2 = (-0.4482 \pm 0.0007) \text{ mN m}^{-1} \text{ K}^{-1}$, with a standard deviation of 0.034 mN m⁻¹ and no point deviating by more than 0.07 mN m⁻¹.

2.3.3. Refractive index

The refractive index of $[C_6mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ was measured between 283.15 K and 343.15 K. The results obtained are displayed in Table 3. The dependence on temperature was found to be linear and can be expressed as follows:

$$n_{\rm D} = d_1 + d_2 T \,({\rm K}),$$
 (4)

with coefficients $d_1 = (1.518709 \pm 0.000204)$ and $d_2 = (-2.97139 \pm 0.00650) \times 10^{-4} \text{ K}^{-1}$, with a standard deviation of 0.877×10^{-4} refractive index units, at a 95% confidence level (k = 2). No point deviates from the line by more than 0.00001.



FIG. 11. Recommended variation of the heat capacity of [C₆mim][(CF₃SO₂)₂N] as a function of temperature. Primary data and new correlation are shown.

TABLE 8. Available data for the surface tension of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$, classified as primary and secondary. Methods of measurement, temperature and pressure ranges, quoted uncertainty, sample purity, and water content are identified

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	$\frac{w_{\text{water}}}{(\%)^{c}}$	Purity class	Observations
				Prir	nary				
Carvalho <i>et al.</i> (2008) ⁹²	RT	293.15-343.15	0.1	6	2.0	IoLiTec	0.002	PDSA	Commercial sam- ple; initial purifi- cation: initial purity of 99 mass %; final purifica- tion: dried by vacuum heating, stirring, and moderate tem- perature (80 °C) for at least 48 h; and analysis by NMR spectroscopy
Osada <i>et al.</i> (2009) ⁹³	DLS	303.15	0.1	1	3.3	Kanto Chemical	NA	D	Commercial sam- ple, purity of 99.3%, and dried at 60 °C under vacuum for about 12 h to eliminate adsorbed water
Klomfar <i>et al.</i> (2010) ⁹⁴	WP	283.17-351.11	0.1	15	1.1	Solvent Innovation	0.0045	D	Commercial sam- ple; initial purifi- cation: initial purity of 99.9 mass %; and final purification: dried by evapo- ration under vacuum at tem- perature 70 °C for 7 h
Oliveira <i>et al.</i> (2012) ³⁴	PDS	298.15	0.1	1	1.2	IoLiTec	0.0307	PDSA	Commercial sam- ple, initial purity of 99 mass %, analysis by NMR spectroscopy, and dried by vacuum heating for a minimum period of 48 h under constant stirring
Present work	WP	289.0-336.2	0.1	13	1.0	IUPAC	0.008	PDSA	Description in Sec. 2.1

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	$\frac{W_{water}}{(\%)^{c}}$	Purity class	Observations
Kilaru <i>et al.</i> (2007) ⁹⁵	RT	297.22-346.42	0.1	Secon 13	ndary 17.0	Covalent Assoc.	0.011	MPFP	Commercial source, purifica- tion stated by the supplier, and
Muhammad et al. (2008) ⁵⁹	DW	298.15–338.15	0.1	5	4.7	Merck	0.0268	D	Commercial sam- ple, initial purifi- cation: initial purity of 99%, and final purifi- cation: dried in a vacuum drier at 313 K for 3 days
Tariq <i>et al.</i> (2010) ⁶⁴	PDS	313–532	0.1	12	3.3	HS	0.007	D	Commercial sam- ple, purification: purity of 99 mol. %, and dried for at least 24 h under vacuum (0.1 Pa) and moderate tem- perature (6 h period up to 60 °C)
Ahosseini <i>et al.</i> (2010) ⁶¹	SPVT	283.1–348.15	0.1	4	3.0	HS	NA	PDSA	Synthesized in the authors' labora- tory, purifica- tion: purity of 99%, dried under vacuum at 80 °C, and chemical and NMR spectros- copy analysis
Kolbeck <i>et al.</i> (2010) ⁶³	PDS	298.15	0.1	2	1.0	HS	0.0008	PDSA	Synthesized in the authors' labora- tory, initial pu- rity of 99%, dried after preparation in vacuum at 40 °C for 24 h, and analysis by NMR spectroscopy

TABLE 8. (Continued.)

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	$\frac{w_{\text{water}}}{(\%)^{c}}$	Purity class	Observations
Shirota <i>et al.</i> (2011) ³¹	RG	297	0.1	1	2.3	HS	0.0003	PDSA	Synthesized in the authors' labora- tory, initial pu- rity of 98%, analysis by NMR spectroscopy, and dried under vacuum at 35 °C for 3 days

^aRG, Ring Tensiometer; DW, Drop Weight; DLS, Dynamic Light Scattering; WP, Wilhelmy Plate method; PDS, Pendant Drop Shape; and SPVT, Spinning Drop Video Tensiometer. ^bNote that the IUPAC sample is as described in text. ^cNA, Not Available.

2.3.4. Thermal conductivity

The results obtained for the thermal conductivity of $[C_6mim]$ [(CF₃SO₂)₂N] are displayed in Table 4. Data were fitted as a function of temperature to a linear equation

$$\lambda (W m^{-1} K^{-1}) = e_1 + e_2 T (K),$$
(5)

with coefficients $e_1 = (0.1062 \pm 0.0019)$ W m⁻¹ K⁻¹ and $e_2 = (6.286 \pm 0.609) \times 10^{-5}$ W m⁻¹ K⁻², and a standard deviation of 8.2×10^{-4} W m⁻¹ K⁻¹. No point deviates from the line by more than 0.0004 W m⁻¹ K⁻¹.

3. The Establishment of Reference Data Correlations

3.1. Experimental techniques and data selection

The experimental techniques for the measurement of thermophysical properties of liquids are widely published and will not be described here. However, their applications to ionic liquids are still a matter of discussion as researchers used a wide range of instruments, from state-of-the-art to user-friendly. This also produces a large variation in the uncertainties of the measured data, which restricts the selection of data used to base the reference correlations. A careful analysis, assessing their quality, shows that there are discrepancies between data from different laboratories and sometimes from samples of different synthesis batches,¹ and this is necessary to be aware about the use and misuse of traditional equipment.

The reports produced by IUPAC^{3,4} did not select the data used in the reference correlations by method accuracy but essentially by results obtained with samples originated in the project and in the instrumentation available in the different groups that were project partners, fortunately and in many cases, some of the best groups existing in the world.

This was not the approach followed by the earlier work of the Subcommittee on Transport Properties of the Physical Chemistry Division of IUPAC, expressed in several publications in this journal as



FIG. 12. The surface tension at constant pressure of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature for all sets of data available.

for thermal conductivity and viscosity, where the group has been involved,^{15,18-20} and continued by other colleagues also in this journal, namely for a wide range of temperatures and pressures in fluids, as, for example, in Refs. 21–23. Then, the approach was mostly developed for a single fluid and a single property, and it was possible to select the most accurate instruments used and very low data uncertainty. The data were then classified into primary and secondary data, whereby primary data were defined as results carried out with a high-precision instrument for which a working equation existed with a detailed set of corrections, distinguishing the ideal mathematical model from the real instrument,¹⁸ and therefore used in the reference correlations developed. These data are, whenever possible, absolute data, not needing calibration of the main physical variables of the apparatus. Secondary data were the results of inferior accuracy due to extreme conditions, incomplete characterization of the instrument, or deficient characterization of the samples measured. These data were not used in primary correlations and were used to develop secondary correlations, namely if temperature range extension was recommended.

In this work, we tried to use the same definition of primary data, but in some cases, it was necessary to use relative instrument data of high accuracy (in the case of density, for instance, whereby 90% of the data available for ionic liquids are produced with vibrating tube densimeters, usually calibrated with water and certified liquids, as described in Sec. 2.2.1).

3.2. The concept of primary and secondary data for ionic liquids

In the sections dedicated to each property (Secs. 4.1-4.9), we discuss the available data and the criteria used to select the "primary" data to develop the reference correlations. However, it is necessary to report here that, in view of the well-recognized effect of impurity water on some thermophysical properties, such as viscosity,^{1,5,6,8} only data whose samples were well characterized and with water contents commensurate with its effect on the quality of the data were chosen. In addition, instruments not well described or without mention of calibration procedures were also not used. Finally, data that departed from the average of the best published data by more than a percentage depending on the property and described below were not considered in the primary set.

As $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ is a weak water absorber, capable of being obtained in a very pure form, it was not necessary to have data on the mixture IL + water, as applied, for instance, for $[C_2 mim]$ [(OAc)].⁹ However, the results obtained for lower water contents by Widegren and Magee^{5,10} for the effect on density and speed of sound (negligible effect) and viscosity and electrical conductivity (significant) were used. In the case of surface tension, thermal conductivity, and self-diffusion coefficient, the effect of the sample water content is well below the uncertainty of the data, while for the refractive index, the sample water content was very small, having a negligible contribution.

3.3. Correlation procedures

The reference correlations developed used only data at P = 0.1 MPa. The data selected as "primary" were fitted using the method of least squares as a function of temperature to polynomials of the type

$$X = \sum_{i=0}^{n} a_i T^i, \tag{6}$$

where *T* is the absolute temperature in K and the coefficients a_i have units defined by the respective property in the supplementary material. No weight was given to the data points as the uncertainty of the primary data was very similar. The degree of the polynomial was chosen by minimizing the mean square deviation of the fit, commensurate with the average uncertainty of the data used.

For the viscosity, electrical conductivity, and ion self-diffusion coefficients, a correlation equation different from the polynomial in Eq. (6) was applied, based on previous work on the standard reference data of toluene and water.^{15,20} The IAPS (International Association for the Properties of Steam) formulation for the transport properties of water developed by Sengers *et al.*²⁴ and Kestin *et al.*²⁵ for viscosity takes the form

$$\ln \eta^* = \sum_{i=0}^{3} A_i (T^*)^{-i}, \tag{7}$$

where η^* and T^* are the dimensionless variables defined as

$$T^{*} = T(K)/298.15 \text{ K}$$

$$\eta^{*} = \eta(T)/\eta(298.15 \text{ K}).$$
(8)

The procedure used to obtain the value of the property at 298.15 K is explained in Secs. 4.5, 4.6, and 4.9. In the case of self-diffusion coefficients, it was necessary to use a reference temperature of 303.15 K.

4. Results and Discussion

The main source for bibliographic information was the NIST Database ILThermo,²⁶ although several other papers were found by normal bibliographic search. All temperature data refer to ITS-90.

The tables have the following information: Literature source, technique, temperature range/K, pressure range/MPa, number of data points, assigned uncertainty [in the presented tables, the assigned uncertainty is that claimed by the authors, corrected, when applicable, to expanded global uncertainty (relative or absolute) (k = 2)], sample origin, purity class, primary/secondary data, and observations. In the case of origin, IUPAC means the IUPAC sample, as described in Sec. 2.1, and HS means synthesized in authors' laboratory; otherwise, the manufacturer company is mentioned. Purity class: the acronyms



FIG. 13. Deviations between the primary data for the surface tension of $[C_6 \text{mim}]$ $[(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature. The dashed line represents the uncertainty of the correlation of $\pm 1.09\%$.



FIG. 14. Deviations between the secondary data for the surface tension of $[C_6 \text{mim}]$ $[(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature.

are the following: MPNP—manufacturers stated purity, no further purification; MPFP—manufacturers stated purity, further purification; D—dried with molecular sieves, with silica gel, with phosphorous pentoxide, or in vacuum; DF—dried and filtered sample; DGF—degassed and filtered sample; and PDSA—purified and dried samples with chemical analysis, GC, GC–MS, NMR, etc., and/or Karl Fisher (water content) analysis.

4.1. Density

All the density data available are summarized in Table 5. A total of 1168 data points were found from 55 sets of data, 49 of them using vibrating-tube densimetry, for 238 < T/K < 473. Only data at 0.1 MPa were used. Figure 2 shows the deviations of all data with deviations



ARTICLE

FIG. 15. Recommended variation of the surface tension of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature.

smaller than $\pm 0.8\%$ from the IUPAC correlation for density.³ As is easily seen, some sets of data, namely, those of Fitchett *et al.*⁵⁰ and Aki *et al.*⁵¹ using pycnometry and those of Tokuda *et al.*,⁵⁴ Lachwa *et al.*,⁵⁵ McHale *et al.*,⁵⁸ Fröba *et al.*,⁶² Kolbeck *et al.*,⁶³ and Gonzalez-Miquel *et al.*⁶⁹ using vibrating-tube densimetry, have deviations from the IUPAC correlation greater than 0.3%, three times the uncertainty of the IUPAC correlation. This is possibly due to deficient equipment calibration. Many other sets were also not considered as primary data, either for lack of purity analysis after synthesis at the authors' laboratory, large water content, or quoted uncertainties greater than 0.2%. The primary data selected are shown in Table 5, 25 datasets





TABLE 9. Available data for the viscosity of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$, classified as primary and secondary. Methods of measurement, temperature and pressure ranges, quoted uncertainty, sample purity, and water content are identified

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	Purity class	$\frac{w_{\text{water}}}{(\%)^{c}}$	Observations
				Prin	nary				
Kandil <i>et al.</i> (2007a) ²⁸	VW	288.15-433.15	0.1-40	42	2	IUPAC	PDSA	0.041	Description in Sec. 2.1
Kandil <i>et al.</i> (2007b) ²⁸	VW	293.15-433.15	0.1-40	31	2.2	IUPAC	PDSA	0.0117	Description in Sec. 2.1
Widegren and Magee (2007) ⁵	SV	258.15-373.15	0.1	19	2	IUPAC	PDSA	0.001	Description in Sec. 2.1
Santos <i>et al.</i> $(2010)^6$	СТ	298.15-343.15	0.1	6	2.8	IUPAC	PDSA	0.0158 ^d	Description in Sec. 2.1
Tariq <i>et al.</i> (2011a) ⁹⁷	CCV	278-358	0.1	17	2	HS	PDSA	0.007	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, dried under vac- uum for 6 h at 60 °C to remove impurities, and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy
Tariq <i>et al.</i> (2011b) ⁹⁷	FB/RS V	293-393	0.1	6	2	HS	PDSA	0.007	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, dried under vac- uum for 6 h at 60 °C to remove impurities, and analysis by proton NMR
Seoane <i>et al.</i> (2012) ⁶⁷	СТ	293.15-343.15	0.1	11	1.5	IoLiTec	D	0.007	bried under vacuum for 70 h at 40 °C to remove impurities
Diogo <i>et al.</i> $(2013)^{36}$	VW	293.14-323.1	0.1	8	2	IoLiTec	D	0.0158	Dried by vacuum heating (70 °C)
(2013) Iguchi <i>et al.</i> $(2014)^{37}$	CCV	293.15-373.15	0.1	9	1.9	Merck	MPNP	0.002	Used as received from the manufacturer
Diogo <i>et al.</i> (2014) ⁹⁸	СТ	293.25–298.19	0.1	2	2	IoLiTec	D	0.0221	Dried under vacuum for about 48 h at around 323 K and left under vacuum for several days at room temperature
Calado <i>et al.</i> (2015) ⁷³	СТ	288.19-328.08	0.1	5	1	IoLiTec	D	0.0026	Dried by vacuum heating (80 °C)
Haghani <i>et al.</i> (2015) ⁹⁹	FB/RS V	288.2-318.2	0.1	4	2	IoLiTec	MPNP	0.0158	Used as received from the manufacturer

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	Purity class	$\frac{w_{water}}{(\%)^c}$	Observations
Harris and Kanakubo (2015a) ³⁸	FB/RS V	273.15-363.15	0.1	37	2	HS	PDSA	0.002	Dried under vacuum at about 70 °C for 30 h to remove any excess water and purity determined by NMR analysis
Harris and Kanakubo (2015b) ³⁸	SV	248.15-363.15	0.1	18	2	HS	PDSA	0.002	Dried under vacuum at about 70 °C for 30 h to remove any excess water and purity determined by NMR analysis
Nazet <i>et al.</i> $(2015)^{40}$	FB/RS V	278.15-408.15	0.1	14	2	IoLiTec	D	0.014	Dried for one week at 60 °C with a high-vacuum line
Salinas <i>et al.</i> (2015) ⁷⁶	FB/RS V	278.15–318.15	0.1	3	2	IoLiTec	PDSA	0.05	Dried under vacuum for 1 week at 40 °C to remove impuri- ties and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy
Fillion <i>et al.</i> (2016) ⁴¹	C&PV	278.15-303.15	0.1	6	6.9	HS	MPNP	0.013	Used as received from the manufacturer
Zorebski <i>et al.</i> (2016) ⁴⁴	СТ	292.87-333.42	0.1	14	2	HS	D	0.0092	Synthesized by others; purifica- tion by spectros- copy, Karl Fischer titration, and frac- tion melting in an adiabatic calorimeter; and stored under argon
Fillion <i>et al.</i> (2017) ¹⁰⁰	C&PV	278.15-293.15	0.1	4	6	HS	PDSA	0.0005	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, dried under vac- uum, and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	Purity class	$(\%)^{c}$	Observations
Fitchett <i>et al.</i> (2004) ⁵⁰	СТ	293.15	0.1	Seco 1	ndary 7.7	HS	D	1.79	Synthesized in the authors' labora- tory and dried un- der vacuum for 4 h at 70 °C-80 °C to remove residual water
Crosthwaite et al. (2005) ⁸⁵	C&PV	283-343	0.1	8	6.7	HS	D	0.003	Synthesized in the authors' labora- tory and dried un- der vacuum for at least 48 h at 40 °C-80 °C to remove organic solvents and water
Tokuda <i>et al.</i> (2005) ⁵⁴	C&PV	283.15-353.15	0.1	8	3.9	HS	PDSA	0.001	Synthesized in the authors' labora- tory, dried under vacuum for 48 h to remove residual water, and purity determined by NMR and MS analysis
Tokuda <i>et al.</i> (2006) ⁵⁶	C&PV	283.15-353.15	0.1	9	10	HS	PDSA	0.004	Synthesized in the authors' labora- tory, analysis by mass spectrome- try, and dried by vacuum heating
Ahosseini and Scurto (2008) ⁹⁶	MP	298.15-343.15	0.1–124	33	3	HS	PDSA	0.0125	Synthesized in the authors' labora- tory, analysis by NMR, and dried under vacuum for 48 h at 40 °C to remove impurities
Muhammad et al. (2008) ⁵⁹	C&PV	288.2-328.2	0.1	5	<u>;;;</u>	Merck	D	0.0268	Dried by vacuum
McHale <i>et al.</i> (2008) ⁵⁸	МР	298.15	0.1	1	3.1	HS	PDSA	0.013	Synthesized in the authors' labora- tory, ion chroma- tography, and dried by vacuum heating

TABLE 9. (Continued.)

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	Purity class	$(\%)^{\circ}$	Observations
Ahosseini <i>et al.</i> (2009) ¹⁰¹	C&PV	323.15	0.1	1	2.4	HS	PDSA	0.01	Synthesized in the authors' labora- tory, analysis by NMR, and dried under vacuum for 48 h at 40 °C to remove impurities
Osada <i>et al.</i> (2009) ⁹³	DLS	303.15	Vacuum	1	NA	Kanto Chemical Co., Inc.	D	<1	Dried at 60 °C under vacuum for about 12 h to eliminate adsorbed water
Yunus <i>et al.</i> (2010) ⁶⁵	CCV	298.15	0.1	1	2.3	HS	PDSA	NA	Synthesized in the authors' labora- tory, dried under vacuum for 3 days at 35 °C to remove impurities, and analysis by proton NMR
Ahosseini et al. (2011) ¹⁰²	C&PV	283.15-348.15	0.1	4	2	HS	PDSA	0.005	Synthesized in the authors' labora- tory, dried under vacuum for 48 h at 50 °C to remove impurities, and analysis by proton NMR
Akbar and Murugesan (2012) ⁶⁶	C&PV	303.15-323.15	0.1	5	2.3	Merck	PDSA	0.003	Analysis by HPLC and dried by vac-
Papovic <i>et al.</i> $(2016)^{78}$	СТ	273.15-323.15	0.1	9	4.6	IoLiTec	D	0.0154	Dried with anhy- drous phospho- rous pentoxide
Ahosseini <i>et al.</i> (2017) ¹⁰³	OP	343.15	0.1	1	2.8	HS	PDSA	0.0125	Synthesized in the authors' labora- tory, dried under vacuum, and anal- ysis by proton NMR spectroscopy

^aCT, Capillary Tube (Ostwald and Ubbelohde) method; C&PV, Cone and Plate Viscometry; VW, Vibrating Wire viscometry; SV, Stabinger Viscometer; MP, Moving Piston method; CCV, Concentric Cylinder Viscometry; FB/RS V, Falling Body or Rolling Sphere Viscometer OP, Oscillating Piston.

^bNote that the IUPAC sample is as described in text and HS means synthesized in authors' laboratory.

 $^{\rm d} Samples$ varied between 119.3 and 196.4 ppm.

^cNA, Not Available.



FIG. 17. The viscosity of $[C_6mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ at 298.15 K obtained from different sets of water-free primary data as a function of the water content of the measured samples (in red). Also shown, for comparison, is the result that we would have obtained if the raw data were used (in blue).

(including the present work) with a total of 284 data points. The remaining data, 31 datasets considered secondary, are also displayed in Table 5.

The variation of the selected data with temperature was found to be linear [n = 1, Eq. (6)], with $a_0 = 1643.582 \pm 0.383$ kg m⁻³, $a_1 = -0.910$ 14 \pm 0.001 22 kg m⁻³ K⁻¹, and an uncertainty of 0.08% at a 95% confidence level, for the temperature interval 250 < *T*/K < 380. The value predicted for the density ρ (298.15 K) is (1372.2 \pm 1.1) kg m⁻³.

Figure 3 shows the deviations of the primary datasets from the reference correlation, not amounting to more than $\pm 0.1\%$. The proposed reference correlation has a slightly different slope from that of IUPAC (2009) but a better uncertainty. The deviation is negligible around room

temperature and below but increases to 0.05% at 373 K, well within the mutual uncertainty of both correlations. One interesting point is that this correlation is very robust and can be extended in temperature range up to 473.15 K, as shown in Fig. 4, where the deviations of all secondary data, 32 datasets, with 210 points, some extending up to 473.15 K, ⁶⁴ are presented, extrapolating very well to within 0.3%. In addition, most of the secondary data do not deviate by more than $\pm 0.5\%$.

The correlation obtained, as well as the supporting primary data, is plotted in Fig. 5.

4.2. Speed of sound

All the data available are summarized in Table 6. There are 9 sets of data published, one of which, by Frez *et al.*,⁸⁰ has a much higher uncertainty than the other sets and no water analysis is described, although the authors claim good sample handling and characterization. It must be said that the water content, within the values shown by the other sets of data (0.001%–0.05%), does not affect the values of the speed of sound within their mutual uncertainties. All the other sets were considered as primary data, two using the IUPAC sample, those of Widegren and Magee⁵ and the present work, and the others, either synthesized in authors' laboratory or commercial samples, were classified as PDSA quality. These data are presented in Table 6, involving a total of nine datasets and 64 data points between 278.15 K and 343.15 K.

The variation of the primary data with temperature was found to be quadratic (n = 2, Eq. (6)), with $a_0 = (2199.49 \pm 20.08)$ m s⁻¹, $a_1 = (-4.2162 \pm 0.1287)$ m K⁻¹ s⁻¹, and $a_2 = (3.20 \pm 0.21) \times 10^{-3}$ m K⁻² s⁻¹ and with an uncertainty of 0.08% at a 95% confidence level. The value predicted for the speed of sound c(298.15 K) is (1226.7 ± 1.0) m s⁻¹ at a 95% confidence level (k = 2). Figure 6 shows the deviations of the primary datasets from the reference correlation for the temperature range 280 < T/K < 360, not amounting to more than $\pm 0.08\%$ except for one point by Zorebski *et al.*⁴⁴ at -0.09%. Also shown is the deviation of the



FIG. 18. Deviations between the primary data for the viscosity of $[C_6 min][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature. The dashed line represents the uncertainty of the correlation of $\pm 3.0\%$.



FIG. 19. Deviations between the secondary data for the viscosity of [C₆mim][(CF₃SO₂)₂N] as a function of temperature.

IUPAC (2009) equation,⁴ which has a slightly different curvature but well within the mutual uncertainty of both correlations, smaller in this new equation. The secondary data of Frez *et al.*⁸⁰ deviate by -0.5%. The correlation obtained, as well as the supporting primary data, are plotted in Fig. 7.

4.3. Heat capacity at constant pressure

In the case of heat capacity at constant pressure, there are 18 sets of data with 957 points. All the available data are summarized in

Table 7. Figure 8 illustrates the temperature dependence of the heat capacity obtained by all the authors. It is clear that the scatter of data is high (assigned uncertainties between 0.4% and 10%).

From these, several sets of data were published after the IUPAC correlation,⁴ which was based on only three sets of data: those of Archer⁸⁶ obtained with a small sample (50 mg) by scanning calorimetry and those of Blokhin *et al.*⁸¹ and Shimizu *et al.*⁸² obtained with adiabatic calorimeters. From the other data, those of Bochmann and Hefter⁸³ obtained with a Tian–Calvet differential microcalorimeter



FIG. 20. Recommended variation of the viscosity of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature.

TABLE 10. A	vailable data for the electrical conductivity of [C6mim]	[(CF ₃ SO ₂) ₂ N], classified as primary an	nd secondary. Methods of measurement	i, temperature and pressure ranges,
quoted uncert	tainty, sample purity, and water content are identified	d		

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	Purity class	w _{water} (%)	Observations
				Primar	·v				
Tokuda <i>et al.</i> (2005) ⁵⁴	AC	263-373	0.1	12	3.9	HS	D	0.001	Dried under vacuum for 48 h to remove residual water and purity determined by NMR and MS analysis
Widegren <i>et al.</i> $(2005)^{105}$	AC	295.1	0.1	5	2	IUPAC	PDSA	0.001	Description in Sec. 2.1
Tokuda <i>et al.</i> (2006) ⁵⁶	AC	263-373	0.1	10	10	HS	D	0.004	Dried under vacuum and purity determined by NMR analysis
Kandil <i>et al.</i> (2007) ²⁸	DC	278.15-323.15	0.1	9	2	IUPAC	PDSA	0.041	Description in Sec. 2.1
Widegren and Magee (2007) ⁵	AC	288.15-323.15	0.1	5	2	IUPAC	PDSA	0.001	Description in Sec. 2.1
Santos <i>et al.</i> $(2010)^6$	AC	278.15-333.15	0.1	11	2	IUPAC	PDSA	0.0004	Description in Sec. 2.1
Calado <i>et al.</i> (2013) ⁷³	AC	288-333	0.1	9	2	IoLiTec	PDSA	0.0106	Dried under vacuum for several days at 60 °C and purity determined by NMR analysis
Harris and Kanakubo (2015) ³⁸	AC	243.48-353.15	0.1	17	2	HS	PDSA	0.0002	Purity determined by NMR analysis and dried under vac- uum at about 70 °C for 30 h to remove any excess water
Nazet <i>et al.</i> (2015) ⁴⁰	AC	278.15-468.15	0.1	20	2	IoLiTec	D	0.0014	Dried for 1 week at 40 °C with a high- vacuum line and no further purifi- cation steps
Papovic <i>et al.</i> (2016) ⁷⁸	AC	293.15-323.15	0.1	7	3	IoLiTec	D	0.0154	Dried under vacuum for 2 h to remove residual water, NMR analysis, and kept in a des- iccator with P ₂ O ₅ for 24 h prior to measurement

TABLE 10. (Continued.)

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	Purity class	w _{water} (%)	Observations
				Seconda	ıry				
Fitchett <i>et al.</i> (2004) ⁵⁰	AC	295.1	0.1	1	8	HS	D	0.0732	Dried under vacuum for 4 h at 70 °C-80 °C to remove residual water and identity of the ionic liquid was confirmed by EMS
Leys <i>et al.</i> $(2008)^{106}$	DM	288.15-308.15	0.1	4	3	HS	D	0.0066	Dried by vacuum heating

^aAC, alternating current cell with electrodes and DC, direct current cell with electrodes.

^bNote that the IUPAC sample is as described in text and HS means synthesized in authors' laboratory.

with the IUPAC sample, Rocha *et al.*⁸⁴ obtained with a high-precision drop calorimeter, Zorebski *et al.*⁴⁴ and Andresova *et al.*⁴⁶ obtained with a Tian–Calvet micro-DSC have the quality to be considered as primary. It must be said that the water content, within the values shown by all these sets of data (<0.02%), does not affect the values of the heat capacity within their mutual uncertainties. These data are presented in Table 7, involving a total of nine datasets and 292 data points, between 190 K and 370 K. The variation of the primary data with temperature was found to be cubic [n = 3, Eq. (6)], with $a_0 = (577.01 \pm 4.17) \text{ J mol}^{-1} \text{ K}^{-1}$, $a_1 = (-0.4999 \pm 0.0400) \text{ J mol}^{-1} \text{ K}^{-2}$, $a_2 = (3.001 \pm 0.123) \times 10^{-3} \text{ J mol}^{-1} \text{ K}^{-3}$, and $a_3 = (-2.50 \pm 0.12) \times 10^{-6} \text{ J mol}^{-1} \text{ K}^{-4}$, with an uncertainty of 0.35% at a 95% confidence level, for 190 < T/K < 540. The value calculated for the heat capacity $C_P(298.15 \text{ K})$ is (629.1 ± 2.2) J mol⁻¹ K⁻¹.

Figure 9 shows the deviations of the primary datasets from the reference correlation for the temperature range 150 K–550 K, not amounting to more than $\pm 0.6\%$. This new correlation extends considerably the range in temperature with respect to the IUPAC correlation,⁴ without significant loss of uncertainty. Figure 10 shows the deviations of the secondary data from the proposed reference correlation. Deviations of up to $\pm 7\%$ are found. The correlation obtained, as well as the supporting primary data, is plotted in Fig. 11.

4.4. Surface tension

Surface tension was not a property considered in the IUPAC project.^{3,4} There are 11 sets of data with 85 data points. All the available data are summarized in Table 8. Figure 12 illustrates the



FIG. 21. The electrical conductivity of [C₆mim][(CF₃SO₂)₂N] as a function of temperature for all sets of data available. Also shown is the IUPAC correlation, valid for 278 < T/K < 373, better viewed on the inset.



FIG. 22. Deviations of the primary data for the electrical conductivity of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ from the proposed reference correlation as a function of temperature. The dashed line represents the uncertainty of the correlation at a 95% confidence level (2.4%). Also shown is the IUPAC (2009) correlation.⁴

temperature dependence of the surface tension obtained by all the authors. It is clear that the scatter of data is high, namely, for temperatures below 350 K (assigned uncertainties between 1% and 17%). The data of Kilaru *et al.*,⁹⁵ using a sample directly from a commercial source, have a very high uncertainty and cannot be considered as primary. Only our measurements have used the IUPAC sample. However, there are data from other authors that can be used in the development of the reference correlation and considered primary as all the measuring methods are well established and are absolute. This is the case for Carvalho *et al.*,⁹² Osada *et al.*,⁹³ Klomfar *et al.*,⁹⁴ and Oliveira *et al.*,³⁴ as well as the present work. The water content, within the values shown by all these sets of data (<0.03%), does not affect the values of the surface tension within their mutual uncertainties, as explained in Sec. 2.2.2.

The primary data in Table 8 involve a total of five datasets and 41 data points between 280 K and 360 K. The variation of the primary



FIG. 23. Deviations of the secondary data for the electrical conductivity of $[C_6mim]$ $[(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ from the proposed reference correlation as a function of temperature. The dashed line represents the uncertainty of the correlation at a 95% confidence level (2.4%). Also shown is the IUPAC (2009) correlation.⁴

data with temperature was found to be linear [n = 1, Eq. (6)], with $a_0 = (46.822 \pm 0.487) \text{ mN m}^{-1}$ and $a_1 = (-0.05075 \pm 0.00155) \text{ mN m}^{-1}$ K⁻¹, with an uncertainty of 1.09% at a 95% confidence level. The value predicted for the surface tension γ (298.15 K) is (31.69 ± 0.35) mN m⁻¹. Figure 13 shows the deviations of the primary datasets from the reference correlation for the temperature range 280 < T/K < 360, not amounting to more than $\pm 1\%$.

Figure 14 shows the deviations of the secondary data, also presented in Table 8, from the proposed reference correlation. Deviations from +14% to -7% are found for the temperature range of the



FIG. 24. Recommended variation of the electrical conductivity of $[C_6 mim]$ $[(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature.



FIG. 25. The thermal conductivity of $[C_6 \text{mim}][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature for all sets of data available.

correlation. Above 360 K, namely, with the data of Tariq *et al.*,⁶⁴ deviations can be as big as -15%. The correlation, as well as the supporting primary data, is plotted in Fig. 15.

4.5. Viscosity

Viscosity was considered in the IUPAC project,^{3,4} where the data of Kandil *et al.*,²⁸ Widegren and Magee,⁵ and Santos *et al.*⁶ were obtained with the IUPAC samples. Also used were the data of

Crosthwaite *et al.*,⁸⁵ Tokuda *et al.*,⁵⁶ Ahosseini and Scurto,⁹⁶ and Muhammad *et al.*,⁵⁹ with the temperature ranging from 258 K to 433 K and an uncertainty of 2% for 298 < T/K < 370, increasing linearly to 5% at the limits of the validity range. However, since then, there were many publications with viscosity data of this ionic liquid that can be used to improve the correlation. Figure 16 shows deviations of all existing data from the IUPAC correlation for viscosities varying between 2.75 Pa s and 0.0031 Pa s, a factor greater than 880, in the temperature range covered. There are, at the pressure of 0.1 MPa, 33 datasets with 343 points. These data are summarized in Table 9.

ARTICLE

The data mentioned above were all analyzed according to the criteria explained above for the definition of primary data. All data with deviations greater than 3% from the IUPAC correlation were not considered as primary data. In addition, the balance of uncertainty of the instruments used should have been explained by the authors as many different methods were used for the viscosity measurement. In addition, the methodology described in the paper by Nieto de Castro et al.¹⁰⁴ to access the quality of state-of-the-art instruments/viscometers was used in analyzing the instrumentation used. Finally, as mentioned in several works,³, ⁹ among others, the viscosity of an ionic liquid is very sensitive to its water content. Fortunately, as said above, $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ is not a strong absorbent of water, although care has to be taken in handling the samples and measuring the water content of the sample before and after the measurements. So, after selecting the primary data, a correction is necessary to obtain water-free viscosity data.

The primary data are summarized in Table 9, involving a total of 19 datasets and 195 data points, between 248 < T/K < 435. All the data

TABLE 11. Available data for the thermal conductivity of [C₆mim][(CF₃SO₂)₂N], classified as reference and secondary. Methods of measurement, temperature and pressure ranges, quoted uncertainty, sample purity, and water content are identified

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. data points	Assigned uncertainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	Purity class	$\frac{w_{water}}{(\%)^c}$	Observations
Ge et al. (2007) ¹⁰⁷	THW Probe	293–353	0.1	Ref	erence 8.2	HS	PDSA	0.08	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, dried under vac- uum at 70 °C to remove residual water, analysis by proton and ¹³ C NMR spectros- copy, and chemi-
Fröba <i>et al.</i> (2010) ⁶²	GHP	273.15–353.15	0.1	9	3.3	Solvent Innovation	PDSA	0.0086	cai analysis Commercial sample with purity >98%, dried under vac- uum for 4 h at 60 °C to remove residual water, and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy

TABLE 11. (Continued.)

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. data points	Assigned uncertainty (%)	Sample origin ^b	Purity class	$\frac{w_{water}}{(\%)^c}$	Observations
Ribeiro <i>et al.</i> (2014) ¹⁰⁸	THW Probe	293-353	0.1	7	5.0	HS	PDSA	0.002	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory, dried under vac- uum at 70 °C to remove residual water, analysis by proton and ¹³ C NMR spectros- copy, and chemi- cal analysis
Present work	THW Probe	293.15-343.15	0.1	9	2.0	IoLiTec	PDSA	0.0093	Commercial sample with purity >99.9% and used from the manu- facturer bottle. Water content before measure- ments is 33 ppm and after mea- surements is 154 ppm
				Seco	ondary		-		
Frez <i>et al.</i> (2006) ⁸⁰	TGT (calculated)	295	0.1	1	8.4	HS	D	NA	Synthesized in the authors' labora- tory, dried under vacuum at 60 °C to remove residual water, and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy
Tenney <i>et al.</i> (2014) ⁷²	GHFM	300-375	0.1	21	8.2	HS	D	0.0008	Synthesized in au- thors' laboratory and dried under vacuum for 48 h to remove residual water

^aGHP, Guarded Hot Plate; GHFM, Guarded Heat Flow Meter; and THW, Transient Hot-Wire.

^bHS, Home Synthesis. ^cNA, Not Available.

were corrected for water content using the methodology developed by Widegren and Magee,⁵ and also applied by Santos *et al.*,⁶ using the water content present in Table 9. As mentioned, Eqs. (7) and (8) will be applied for viscosity. The best estimate of the value of η (298.15 K) was found with the following procedure in the absence of enough data

was found with the following procedure in the absence of enough data on the viscosity of IL + water mixtures. All the primary datasets where the value of the viscosity at 298.15 K was available were corrected for water-free values using the equation developed by Widegren and Magee.⁵ In Fig. 17, we represent all the data points for the primary datasets as a function of their water content (in red). No definitive trend was found to extrapolate to pure ionic liquid, probably due to the uncertainty of each batch of experimental data. Therefore, all the values were averaged giving $\eta_{wf}(298.15 \text{ K}) = (0.0704 \pm 0.0019)$ Pa s, with 2.7% uncertainty. Figure 17 also shows (in blue) the uncorrected values of the viscosities, which average to a value 0.75% less than the water-free value, smaller than the uncertainty of the experimental data.

The coefficients of Eq. (7) are $A_0 = -10.84618 \pm 0.54603$, $A_1 = 21.50521 \pm 1.74256$, $A_2 = -24.56556 \pm 1.84198$, and $A_3 = 13.89912 \pm 0.64503$, with an uncertainty of 3.0% at a 95% confidence level, for 250 < T/K < 435. Figure 18 shows the deviations between the primary data points and the new correlation for viscosity. It can be seen than no point deviates from the equation by more than 2 standard deviations (\pm 3.0%). Also shown is the deviation from the IUPAC 2009 equation,⁴ also within their mutual uncertainty. Figure 19 shows the deviations of the secondary data from the proposed reference correlation, amounting to \pm 15%. The correlation obtained, as well as the supporting primary data, is plotted in Fig. 20.

4.6. Electrical conductivity

Electrical (or electrolytic) conductivity was also considered in the IUPAC project,^{3,4} with the data of Widegren *et al.*,¹⁰⁵ Kandil *et al.*,²⁸ and Widegren and Magee⁵ performed with IUPAC samples. A correlation of electrical conductivity as a function of temperature was obtained for 278 < T/K < 323, with an estimated combined expanded uncertainty of 2% at the 95% confidence level. Performed with an IUPAC sample, Santos *et al.*⁶ obtained measurements between 270 K and 350 K, with an uncertainty of 2%, which agreed with the IUPAC correlation within their mutual uncertainties. These data were corrected with the results of Widegren and Magee⁵ to obtain water-free electrical conductivity.

Twelve datasets, with a total of 110 data points, were found in the literature, extending the temperature range down to 243.48 K³⁸ and up to 468.15 K.⁴⁰ Table 10 shows all the information about the available data, and Fig. 21 plots the variation of the electrical conductivity with temperature, including the IUPAC (2009) correlation.⁴ It can be seen that the data of Fitchett *et al.*⁵⁰ and 5 data points of Tokuda *et al.*^{54,56} at the lower temperatures have deviations that do not recommend their use as primary data. In addition to Fitchett *et al.*⁵⁰ data, those of Leys *et al.*¹⁰⁶ do not provide any information for the purity of the home-prepared samples, so they were not considered as primary.

The measuring methods used by the authors can be classified into strong and weak techniques. By strong, we mean those where both the capacitance and resistance are balanced and the measurements are corrected to infinite frequency, and by weak, we mean the others often suffering from polarization effects, for example, those of Fitchett *et al.*⁵⁰ and Leys *et al.*¹⁰⁶ Only strong techniques were used in the primary data choice. The data considered as primary are summarized in Table 10. Some of the data of Tokuda *et al.*⁵⁴ (3 points) and Tokuda *et al.*⁵⁶ (2 points) at the lower temperatures (263 K–283 K) were not used, as explained above.

The same type of equation used for viscosity was used [Eqs. (7) and (8)]. The best estimate of the value of κ (298.15 K) was found with the same procedure used for viscosity. All the primary datasets where the value of the electrical conductivity at 298.15 K was available were corrected to water-free values using the equation developed by Widegren and Magee.⁵ A value of $\kappa_{wf}(298.15 \text{ K}) = (0.217 \pm 0.006) \text{ S m}^{-1}$ (2.6% uncertainty at a 95% confidence level) was found. The coefficients of Eq. (7) are $A_0 = 10.399.91 \pm 0.304.73$, $A_1 = -22.1253 \pm 1.0183$, $A_2 = 26.2132 \pm 1.1169$, and $A_3 = -14.4874 \pm 0.4031$, with an uncertainty of 2.4% at a 95% confidence level, for 240 < T/K < 470.

Figure 22 shows the deviations between the primary data points and the new correlation for electrical conductivity. It can be seen than most of the data fall between the uncertainty of the data. Also shown are the deviations from the IUPAC 2009 equation⁴ in the temperature range 278 < T/K < 323, less than ±1%. This new equation has a wider temperature range than the IUPAC equation.⁴ Figure 23 shows the deviations of the secondary data from the proposed correlation. The data of Fitchett *et al.*⁵⁰ are +38% and are not shown. The two data points of Tokuda *et al.*⁵⁶ mentioned before are outside the equation range.

The correlation obtained, as well as the supporting primary data, are plotted in Fig. 24.

4.7. Thermal conductivity

Thermal conductivity was not an object of analysis in the IUPAC project^{3,4} as only one set of data was available at the time, namely, those of Ge *et al.*¹⁰⁷ Since then, few datasets have become available, probably due to the known difficulty of performing good measurements with electrically conducting liquids. There are 6 sets of data available with a total of 35 points, including the present data. Unfortunately, the uncertainty of the data varies between 2% and 8.2%, three of them taken with transient hot-wire probes, one with a steady-state guarded plate, one with a guarded heat flow meter, and one calculated from thermal diffusivity, density, and heat capacity using









TABLE 12. Available data for the refractive index of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$, classified as primary and secondary. Methods of measurement, temperature and pressure ranges, quoted uncertainty, sample purity, and water content are identified

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (RI units)	Sample origin ^b	Purity class	$\frac{w_{water}}{(\%)^{c}}$	Observations			
Primary												
Tariq <i>et al.</i> (2009) ⁶⁰	SAR	293.15-333.15	0.1	4	0.0008	HS	D	0.015	Synthesized in authors' labo- ratory and dried under vacuum for 48 h at 60 °C–80 °C to remove impurities			
Fröba <i>et al.</i> (2010) ⁶²	SAR	283.15-313.15	0.1	4	0.0006	HS	PDSA	0.086	Synthesized in authors' labo- ratory, dried under vacuum for 4 h at 60 °C to remove im- purities, and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy			
Lago <i>et al.</i> (2011) ³⁰	SAR	298.15	0.1	1	0.000 33	HS	PDSA	0.087	Synthesized in authors' labo- ratory, dried by vacuum heat- ing for 48 h at 70 °C, and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy			
González et al. (2012) ³³	SAR	298.15	0.1	1	0.000 08	IoLiTec	D	0.007	Commercial source. Prior to its use, the compound was subjected to vacuum (0.2 Pa) at 60 °C until the den- sity value remained constant			
Seoane <i>et al.</i> (2012) ⁶⁷	SAR	293.15-343.15	0.1	11	0.000 48	IoLiTec	D	0.007	Dried under vac- uum for 70 h at 40 °C to remove impurities			

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (RI units)	Sample origin ^b	Purity class	$\frac{w_{water}}{(\%)^c}$	Observations
Montalban <i>et al.</i> (2015) ⁷⁵	SAR	293.15–343.15	0.1	6	0.0016	IoLiTec	PDSA	0.0089	Synthesized in authors' labo- ratory, dried under vacuum for 30 h at 70 °C to remove im- purities, and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy
Branco <i>et al.</i> (2015) ¹⁰⁹	SAR	298.15	0.1	1	0.0014	IoLiTec	MPFP	0.026	Dried under vac- uum for 48 h at 40 °C to remove impurities
Montalban <i>et al.</i> (2016) ⁷⁷	SAR	298.15	0.1	1	0.0011	IoLiTec	PDSA	0.089	Synthesized in authors' labo- ratory, dried under vacuum for 30 h at 70 °C to remove im- purities, and analysis by proton NMR spectroscony
Andresova <i>et al.</i> (2017) ⁴⁶	SAR	298.15	0.1	1	0.0007	IoLiTec		0.017	Commercial source, NMR analysis, and dried for at least 16 h under vacuum (8–10 mbar) at ~60 °C
Saien <i>et al.</i> (2018) ¹¹⁰	SAR	293.2-308.2	0.09	3	0.0014	HS	PDSA	0.065	Synthesized in authors' labo- ratory, dried under vacuum for 6 h at 70 °C to remove im- purities, and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy
Present work	SAR	283.15-343.15	0.1	13	0.000 16	IUPAC	PDSA	0.060	Description in Sec. 2.1
Muhammad <i>et al.</i> (2008) ⁵⁹	SAR	302.95-332.95	0.1	7	0.0013	Merck	D	0.0268	Dried by vacuum heating

TABLE 12. (Continued.)

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (RI units)	Sample origin ^b	Purity class	$\frac{w_{water}}{(\%)^{c}}$	Observations
Yunus <i>et al.</i> (2010) ⁶⁵	SAR	298.15	0.1	1	0.000 51	HS	PDSA	NA	Synthesized in the authors' labo- ratory, dried under vacuum for 3 days at 35 °C to remove impurities, and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy
Akbar and Murugesan (2012) ⁶⁶	SAR	303.15-323.15	0.1	5	0.000 83	Merck	PDSA	0.023	Analysis by HPLC and dried by vacuum heat- ing at 80 °C for 48 h before use
Corderi <i>et al.</i> (2013) ¹¹¹	SAR	298.15-313.15	0.1	2	0.000 37	IoLiTec	MPFP	0.007	Dried under vac- uum at 343 K to remove impurities
Tao <i>et al.</i> (2016) ¹¹²	MDA	282.99–293.39	0.1	11	0.000 3	Cheng Jie Chemical Co. Ltd.	MPFP	0.041	Dried under vac- uum for 48 h at 40 °C to remove impurities and kept in the vacuum desic- cator with P_2O_5 before use

^aSAR, Standard Abbé Refractometry; MDA, Minimum Deviation Angle.

^bNote that the IUPAC sample is as described in text and HS means synthesized in authors' laboratory.

^cNA, Not Available.

a thermal grating technique, which limits the establishment of primary data.

Figure 25 shows all the available data present in Table 11 in the temperature range of 273 K–375 K, including the error bars of each set of measurements. Data scatter is high with very low temperature dependencies, ranging from negative (Ge *et al.*,¹⁰⁷ Fröba *et al.*,⁶² and Ribeiro *et al.*¹⁰⁸), null (Frez *et al.*⁸⁰ and Tenney *et al.*⁷²), to slightly positive (this work). One set of data has an uncertainty of 8.2%—the data of Tenney *et al.*⁷² (one single value of thermal conductivity valid in the temperature range of 330 K–375 K).

As described above, particular care, affording a better uncertainty, was taken in the evaluation of the new data presented in this work, which show a minor increase with temperature (3.3% in 70 K). This positive coefficient is known for associated liquids such as water and alcohols; several ionic liquids, namely, measured in our laboratory;^{8,9} and molten salts. However, we do not have enough data to produce primary correlations and decided that the existing data can support a provisional reference correlation, using all the data available except the datum of

Frez *et al.*,⁸⁰ which was a calculated value obtained from the direct measurement of thermal diffusivity and density and heat capacity data of others with an estimated uncertainty of 6.6%, and those of Tenney *et al.*,⁷² which were obtained with a guarded heat flow meter, an average data point in a temperature interval.

All data are summarized in Table 11, involving a total of four reference datasets and 32 data points between 273 < T/K < 353. The variation of the reference data with temperature was found to be linear [n = 1, Eq. (6)], with $a_0 = 0.1254 \pm 0.0069 \text{ W m}^{-1} \text{ K}^{-1}$ and $a_1 = (-5.087 \pm 2.15) \times 10^{-5} \text{ W m}^{-1} \text{ K}^{-2}$, with an uncertainty of 4.5% at a 95% confidence level. The value predicted for the thermal conductivity λ (298.15 K) was found to be (0.124 ± 0.006) W m⁻¹ K⁻¹. Deviations of reference data from the correlation are shown in Fig. 26, no point amounting to more than the uncertainty of data. In fact, all the points fall within the $\pm 2\sigma$ band, a possible sign of the data basis heterogeneous uncertainty. Secondary data of Frez *et al.*⁸⁰ (2006) deviate by -5.8% and those of Tenney *et al.*⁷² deviate by a maximum of -3.1% from the present correlation. The obtained temperature variation



FIG. 28. The refractive index (sodium D line) of [C₆/mim][(CF₃SO₂)₂N] as a function of temperature for all sets of data available.

slope is very small and negative. New data on this property are necessary in the near future to improve the quality of the present recommendation.

The correlation obtained, as well as the supporting reference data, is plotted in Fig. 27.

4.8. Refractive index

Refractive index was also not an object of the IUPAC project due to the small number of datasets available at that time. Today, there are



FIG. 29. Deviations of the refractive index of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ at 298.15 K from their average (line). The dashed lines represent the uncertainty at a 95% confidence level. Error bars of individual datasets are also shown. The black line represents the average value of the primary datasets at 298.15 K.

16 datasets with 72 data points, the uncertainty of the data varying between 0.0008 and 0.0016 RI units and the water content (in mass %) varying between 0.0008 and 0.0268. Table 12 summarizes all the available data, also shown in Fig. 28, in the temperature range 283 < T/K < 343. There is a large scatter, probably due to deficient calibration of Abbé refractometers, for some datasets. A careful analysis of Table 12 shows that the data of Muhammad *et al.*,⁵⁹ Yunus *et al.*,⁶⁵ Akbar and Murugesan,⁶⁶ Corderi *et al.*,¹¹¹ and Tao *et al.*¹¹² cannot be selected as primary data, either for deficient sample purity and water content analysis or by incorrect use of instrumentation. Therefore, 11 datasets, including the present work, were considered as primary. As



FIG. 30. Deviations between the primary data for the refractive index of $[C_6mim]$ $[(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature. The dashed line represents the uncertainty of the correlation at a 95% confidence level (0.001 29 RI units).



FIG. 31. Deviations between the secondary data for the refractive index of $[C_6mim]$ $[(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature. The dashed line represents the uncertainty of the correlation at a 95% confidence level (0.001 29 RI units).

there are no data for the refractive index dependence on the water content, we follow the procedure used in the viscosity and electrical conductivity to define the value of n(298.15 K) by averaging the value of the primary datasets, $n(298.15 \text{ K}) = 1.430.08 \pm 0.001.47$, at a 95% confidence level. Figure 29 shows the deviations from the average value of all data used in its derivation, no data deviating by more than 2 standard deviations from the average and within their mutual uncertainty.

The primary datasets are presented in Table 12. A regression line [n = 1, Eq. (6)] was fitted to the dependence of the refractive index on temperature in the temperature range 280 < T/K < 350, with $a_0 = 1.516 89 \pm 0.002 12$ and $a_1 = (-29.092 \pm 0.668) \times 10^{-6} \text{ K}^{-1}$, with an uncertainty of 0.001 27 RI units at a 95% confidence level. Deviations from the primary data to this line are shown in Fig. 30, not amounting to more than the uncertainty of the correlation.

Figure 31 shows the deviations of the secondary data from the reference correlation, most of it outside the correlation uncertainty, with different temperature coefficients. It includes 25 points in five datasets. The correlation obtained, as well as the supporting reference data, is plotted in Fig. 32.

4.9. Ion self-diffusion coefficient

ARTICLE

Self-diffusion is also a very important transport property in theoretical work and electrochemical applications. In an ionic liquid, there are two types of diffusion coefficients, the cation self-diffusion coefficients, D_+ , and the anion self-diffusion coefficients, D_- , which characterize the mass transfer of the ion movement.¹¹³ An ionic liquid could be considered as a completely dissociated electrolyte (without solvent) or having the possibility of ion-pairs and other ion aggregates, causing ion association, and making the diffusion process more complex.

The diffusion of a completely dissociated electrolyte (in a solvent) can be obtained from the work of Bartel *et al.*,¹¹⁴ and D^{∞} , the infinite dilution mutual (or inter-diffusion coefficient), can be related to D_+ and D_- by Eq. (9), the Nernst–Hartley limiting expression

$$D = \frac{D_+ D_- (q_+^2 + q_-^2)}{q_+^2 D_+ + q_-^2 D_-} = \frac{2D_+ D_-}{D_+ + D_-} = D_{\rm NH}^{\infty},\tag{9}$$

where q_+ and q_- are, respectively, the charges of the cation and the anion, ± 1 in the case of $[C_6 \text{mim}][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$. In the case of an electrolyte forming ion-pairs, Eq. (9) is transformed to

$$D = \frac{D_{\rm NH}^{\infty}}{1 + 2K_{\rm A}c_{\rm f}} + \frac{D_{\rm IP}^{\infty}}{1 + \frac{1}{2K_{\rm A}c_{\rm f}}},\tag{10}$$

where $c_f = c_+^{eq} = c_-^{eq}$ is the average concentration of the free ions, K_A is the association constant of the ions, and D_{IP}^{∞} is the diffusion coefficient of the ion-pair. These quantities are very difficult to obtain and are not known for our system. However, our system is not strictly



TABLE 13. Available data for the self-diffusion of [C₆mim][(CF₃SO₂)₂N], classified as reference and secondary. Methods of measurement, temperature and pressure ranges, quoted uncertainty, sample purity, and water content are identified

Literature source	Technique ^a	Temperature range (K)	Pressure range (MPa)	No. of data points	Assigned uncertainty (%) ^b	Sample origin ^c	Purity class	$rac{w_{ ext{water}}}{(\%)^{ ext{d}}}$	Observations
				Referen	ce				
Tokuda <i>et al.</i> (2006) ⁵⁶	SE	263-353	0.1	8	5	HS	PDSA	0.001	Synthesized in the authors' labora- tory, analysis by mass spectrome- try, and dried by vacuum heating
Martinelli <i>et al.</i> (2013) ¹¹⁸	SE	303	0.1	1	NA	IoLiTec	MPNP	NA	Commercial source, transferred di- rectly to a glove box and sealed in NMR vials
Harris and Kanakubo (2015a) ³⁸	SE	293.3–364	0.1	37	3	HS	PDSA	0.002	Dried under vacuum at about 70 °C for 30 h to remove any excess water and purity deter- mined by NMR analysis
				Seconda	ıry				,
Tokuda <i>et al.</i> (2005) ⁵⁴	SE	263.15-353.15	0.1	10	NA	HS	PDSA	0.001	Synthesized in the authors' labora- tory, dried under vacuum for 48 h to remove residual water, and purity determined by NMR and MS analysis
Ahosseini et al. (2017) ¹⁰³	SE	298.15-343.15	0.1	3	10	HS	PDSA	0.0125	Synthesized in the authors' labora- tory, dried under vacuum, and analysis by proton NMR spectroscopy

^aSE, NMR Spin-Echo technique.

^bNA, Not Available.

^cHS, synthesized in authors' laboratory.

^dNA, Not Available.

an electrolyte but a salt. Therefore, we can have non-bonded cations (or free cations), non-bonded anions (or free anions), ion-pairs (cation–anion), and ionic aggregates of different complexity. D'Agostino *et al.*¹¹⁵ studied the effect of aggregation in the self-diffusion coefficients of the system $[C_2mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ and found that there was a weak interaction between cations and anions. This result was also found for this compound and for $[C_4mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ by Feng *et al.*¹¹⁶ using molecular dynamics

simulations, whereby they proved that the electrical conductivity of the electrolyte could be described by a modified Nernst–Einstein equation based exclusively on free ions but where $c_+^{\rm eq} \approx c_-^{\rm eq} \approx 0.2$ between 300 K and 600 K.

This complementary analysis suggests that we can assume that ionpairing (if neutral, the ion-pairs' movement in the liquid will not transport charge and therefore not contribute to the electrical conductivity) is present in $[C_6mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$. We cannot consider this ionic



FIG. 33. Available data for the self-diffusion coefficients of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$. (a) $[C_6 mim]^*$ self-diffusion coefficient and (b) $[(CF_3SO_2)_2N]^-$ self-diffusion coefficient.

liquid as a completely dissociated electrolyte, and then, Eq. (9) is not applicable. This fact was also discussed by Harris and Kanakubo^{38,117} when analyzing the Nernst–Einstein equation, which includes a factor Δ , the Nernst–Einstein deviation parameter, different from zero (~0.42) to correct the electrical conductivity in an ionic medium from the free ion expression [correction is $(1 - \Delta)$]. For these reasons, we restrict here our analysis to the ion self-diffusion coefficients, the only experimentally measurable diffusion coefficients in a pure salt.

There are only five datasets on the self-diffusion coefficients, all summarized in Table 13: One set with diffusion by Tokuda *et al.*⁵⁴ (registered in ILThermo²⁶) and four sets with ionic self-diffusion coefficients by Tokuda *et al.*,⁵⁶ Martinelli *et al.*,¹¹⁸ Harris and Kanakubo,³⁸ and Ahosseini *et al.*,¹⁰³ the last one being only for the cation, all obtained with the NMR spin-echo technique (pulsed gradient field) and a total of 59 data points. The data of Tokuda *et al.*⁵⁴ registered in ILThermo were wrongly calculated from ionic species data and therefore will not be used in the foregoing analysis. We report in Fig. 33 the available data for the two ion self-diffusion coefficients as a function of temperature.

The data of Ahosseini *et al.*¹⁰³</sup> for the self-diffusion coefficientof the cation have a claimed uncertainty of 10% and deviate verymuch from the data of the other authors, namely, for temperaturesabove 300 K [see Fig. 33(a)]. As we only have three sets ofdata,^{38,56,118} we used these sets to define a provisional correlation, aswe did for thermal conductivity. The data of Harris and Kanakubo³⁸were averaged for the same nominal temperatures (9 points) inorder to calculate the chemical diffusion coefficients and notoverweight the correlation. A total of 18 data points were used.Reference data for the ion self-diffusion coefficient correlation aresummarized in Table 13.</sup>

The correlation equation used was Eq. (7). The value of the selfdiffusion coefficients at 298.15 K could not be obtained accurately, so we decided to have a reference temperature of 303.15 K. The values chosen for the ion self-diffusion coefficients at 303.15 K were $10^{12}D_+(303.15 \text{ K}) = (22.5 \pm 0.6) \text{ m}^2 \text{ s}^{-1}$ and $10^{12}D_-(303.15 \text{ K}) =$ $(19.0 \pm 0.9) \text{ m}^2 \text{ s}^{-1}$. The optimized parameters for the two different correlation equations are as follows: For the cation self-diffusion coefficient, $A_0 = 0.46346 \pm 0.71971$, $A_1 = 12.674 \pm 1.471$, and $A_2 = -13.158 \pm 0.747$, with an uncertainty of 5% at a 95% confidence level. For the anion self-diffusion coefficient, $A_0 = 0.35154 \pm 1.10080$, $A_1 = 13.102 \pm 2.249$, and $A_2 = -13.459 \pm 1.143$, with an uncertainty of 7.7% at a 95% confidence level. The correlations are valid for the temperature interval 260 < T/K < 370.

The correlation obtained, as well as the supporting reference data, is plotted in Fig. 34, which shows the deviations of the experimental data from the correlated equations.

4.10. An inter-property consistency check

The properties of ionic liquids show several relations between them, some with theoretical basis and some others with mostly empirical confirmation. One of the proposed ways to understand the interionic/molecular forces in ionic liquid systems is the use of the Walden rule, proposed by Angell and co-workers^{119–121} to classify the ionic power of the ionic liquid. The Walden rule relates limiting molar conductivity, Λ_m^0 , of the ionic liquid system and the viscosity, η , of the pure liquid, in the form

$$\Lambda^0_m \times \eta^\alpha = C', \tag{11}$$

where α was originally proposed as 1 ("ideal" Walden rule) but found to be of the order of 0.8 ± 0.1 by several workers, well analyzed by Schreiner *et al.*,¹²² and *C*′ is a constant. By definition, for a pure ionic liquid,



FIG. 34. Deviations between the reference data for the ionic self-diffusion coefficients of $[C_6min][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature. *, D_+ and o, D_- . Blue, Tokuda *et al.* (2006)⁵⁶; green, Harris and Kanakubo (2015)³⁸; and red, Martinelli *et al.* (2013).¹¹⁸ Also represented is the uncertainty of the correlation at a 95% confidence level.Dotted lines, D_+ , 5%, and dashed-dotted lines, D_- , 7.7%.



FIG. 35. Recommended variation of the ion self-diffusion coefficient of $[C_6 mim]$ $[(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature.

$$\Lambda_m^0 = \kappa \left(\frac{M}{\rho}\right) \tag{12}$$

and

$$\log \Lambda_m^0 = \log C' + \alpha \log(\eta^{-1}). \tag{13}$$

In Fig. 36, we represent $\log \Lambda_m^0$ as a function of $\log(\eta^{-1})$, using our reference data for density, electrical conductivity, and viscosity, as a function of temperature, between 250 K and 380 K. A straight line is obtained with an intercept of 1.634 20 ± 0.00472 and a slope of 1.0277 ± 0.0025, giving $\alpha = 1.03$. This confirms that $[C_6 \text{mim}][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ obeys the "ideal" Walden rule, with a coefficient very close to one, a sign of inter-property consistency. Notably, there is a current discussion about the definition of Angell and co-workers of the ionicity concept, namely, about the use of deviations to an arbitrarily chosen 1 M KCl aqueous solution as a reference, not thermodynamically ideal (activity coefficients greater than unity), and the consideration of the "ideal" Walden rule.^{122,123} However, this fact does not affect the inter-property consistency check performed.



FIG. 36. Walden rule verification for $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$.

No other effort was made in the present work to explain theoretically the variation of the different properties with temperature.

4.11. Some comments about the normal melting temperature

To define the temperature range of the tabulations, namely, in the lower temperature side, it is necessary to define the normal melting temperature based on published results. The ILThermo database²⁶ includes 9 datasets, 6 obtained with DSC/DTA experiments, 2 from heating/cooling curves, and 1 from visual observation. These results are presented in Table 14 and in Fig. 37, and it can be concluded that there are deviations between the published data greater than their mutual uncertainty. The works of Archer,⁸⁶ Shevelyova *et al.*,¹²⁴ Wachter *et al.*,¹²⁵ and Hughes *et al.*⁸⁹ agree within their mutual uncertainty [expanded uncertainty at a 0.95 level of confidence (k = 2)]. An average value of $T_{melt} = (271.72 \pm 0.45)$ K was taken as the best estimate of the normal melting temperature. From the thermophysical properties studied in this work, it is clear that

TABLE 14. Available publications for the normal melting temperature of [C₆mim][(CF₃SO₂)₂N], classified as reference and secondary. Methods of measurement, phase transition, sample purity, melting point temperature, quoted uncertainty, and water content are identified

Literature source	Phase transition	Technique ^a	Purity (wt. %) ^b	$T_{\rm melt}$ (K)	<i>U</i> (К) ^с	$w_{\rm water}$ (%)
		Referen	ce			
Archer (2006) ⁸⁶	Crys-liquid	DSC	99.5 ^d	272.11	0.29	0.002
Shevelyova <i>et al.</i> $(2007)^{124}$	Crys-liquid	VO	99.76 ^d	272.0	0.4	0.002
Wachter <i>et al.</i> (2010) ¹²⁵	Crys-liquid	HCC	99.5	271.3	0.8	0.005
Hughes et al. (2011) ⁸⁹	Crys-liquid	DSC	NA	271.45	0.61	0.01
		Seconda	ary			
Tokuda <i>et al.</i> (2005) ⁵⁴	Crys-liquid	DSC	. 99	267.1	1	0.01
Archer (2006) ⁸⁶	MetCrys-liquid	DSC	99.5 ^d	265.8	1	0.002
Tokuda <i>et al.</i> (2006) ⁵⁶	Crys-liquid	DSC	99	267.1	6	0.04
Gomez <i>et al.</i> (2013) ⁹⁰	Crys-liquid	HCC	99	269	3	0.005
Rodrigues et al. (2016) ¹²⁶	Crys-liquid	DSC	>98	262.6	1.1	NA
Xue et al. (2016) ⁴³	Crys-liquid	DSC	99.8	261.9	3.4	0.008

^aDSC, Differential Scanning Calorimetry; HCC, Heating/Cooling Curves; and VO, Visual Observation.

^cWith expanded uncertainty at a 95% confidence level (k = 2).

^dIUPAC sample as described in text.

^bNA, Not Available.



FIG. 37. The normal melting temperature of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$. x-axis entries 1 (Ref. 54), 2 (Ref. 86), 3 (Ref. 86), 4 (Ref. 55), 5 (Ref. 124), 6 (Ref. 125), 7 (Ref. 89), 8 (Ref. 90), 9 (Ref. 126), and 10 (Ref. 43) correspond to the values in Table 14. The black line (and data point 11) shows the suggested normal melting temperature, $T_m = (271.72 \pm 0.45)$ K. The dashed lines represent the uncertainty at a 95% confidence level.

several literature data have been obtained with supercooled liquid samples, namely, for density, heat capacity, electrical conductivity, and viscosity, or with high scanning rates in the DSC measurements. Noteworthy, and given the recommended value of the triple point as $T_{\rm t} = 272.13 \pm 0.05 \text{ K}$,⁴ the value of the upper limit of $T_{\rm melt}$ 272.17 K, agrees very well with the triple-point temperature, to within 0.04 K.

5. Tabulations

The reference equations developed can now be used to tabulate recommended values of the thermophysical properties of $[C_6 \text{mim}]$ [(CF₃SO₂)₂N] within the range of temperatures for which they have been developed in the current work and at the pressure of 0.1 MPa. They refer only to the liquid state for temperatures above the recommended triple-point temperature, $T_t = (272.13 \pm 0.05) \text{ K.}^4$ Whenever the values for water-free data could be obtained, the correlations refer to these data (viscosity and electrical conductivity).

Table 15 presents the recommended reference data for all the properties studied, including their uncertainties and the value of each property at 298.15 K. The number of digits of each tabulated value is consistent with the proposed uncertainty of the correlations, at the 95% confidence level, shown in the last line of Table 15. For the different properties covered by the IUPAC project, comparison was made in the respective section with the IUPAC reference correlations (density, speed of sound, heat capacity, viscosity, and electrical conductivity), and it was demonstrated that both correlations agree within mutual uncertainties in the overlapping temperature interval. The dashed line represents the melting line, the separation between data on supercooled liquid and normal liquid.

6. Cautions in the Use of Tabulated Thermophysical Properties

As the pressure at the triple point is nearly zero, the results can also be considered at the saturation line of the ionic liquid, as the dependence of the studied properties on pressure is very weak, up to 10 MPa. However, the data on the heat capacity of the liquid phase have a branch of metastable liquid, up to 190 K (glass transition temperature),⁴ which has no discontinuity. Therefore, the values tabulated must be used with care^{3,86} above the dashed line.

As mentioned in previous works,^{15,18–21} the values presented in Table 15 serve two main purposes:

- They can act as a test of quality (and uncertainty) of absolute instruments, applied to measurements in ionic liquids, checking if the instruments are operating according to their design/ specifications.
- They are a means for calibrating relative instruments, for which no full working equation is available. Nonetheless, calibration robustness relies on the use of at least two calibrants with very different density values in the case of vibrating-tube densimetry or on sensor wettability in surface tension measurements.

7. Conclusions

New experimental results for the density, speed of sound, surface tension, thermal conductivity, and refractive index of $[C_6 \text{mim}]$ $[(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ were obtained with low uncertainty, respectively, 0.12 kg m⁻³, 0.07 m s⁻¹, 0.035 mN m⁻¹, 0.8 mW m⁻¹ K⁻¹, and 0.000 09 RI units.

New standard reference data for the density, speed of sound, heat capacity, viscosity, electrical conductivity, thermal conductivity, refractive index, and ion self-diffusion coefficients of $[C_6mim]$ $[(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$, based on ITS-90, are proposed, covering most of the normal liquid range at 0.1 MPa. This work complements and replaces previous IUPAC correlations, presented in 2009, with a better uncertainty and/or a more extensive temperature range. Calibration of secondary instruments is now possible in temperature ranges where ionic liquids are thermally and kinetically stable and also for other high-viscosity liquids for which there are not many accepted calibrants.

The proposed values of the properties at 298.15 K have uncertainties (95% confidence level) that are the best possible now.

Т (К)	ρ (kg m ⁻³)	c (m s ⁻¹)	$\begin{array}{c} C_p \\ (\text{J mol}^{-1} \text{ K}^{-1}) \end{array}$	γ (mN m ⁻¹)	η (mPa s)	(S m^{-1})	$\lambda \pmod{(\mathrm{mW} \mathrm{m}^{-1} \mathrm{K}^{-1})}$	$10^{12}D_+$ (m ² s ⁻¹)	$10^{12}D_{-}$ (m ² s ⁻¹)	п
190			573.2							
200			577.1							
210			581.2							
220			585.6							
230			590.3							
240			595.3			0.0026				
250	1416.0		600.5		2191	0.0048				
255	1411.5		603.2		1321	0.0082	1.50	1.00		
260	1406.9		605.9		833	0.0133	1.59	1.32		
265	1402.4		608./		546 271	0.0207	2.35	1.96	1.02	
270	1397.8		611.6		3/1	0.0310	0.1240	3.38 	2.83	
275	1393.3	1281.8	614.5		260	0.0448	0.1240	4.74	4.00	
280	1388.7	1269.6	617.4	32.61	188	0.0628	0.1240	6.51	5.51	1.435 43
285	1384.2	1257.6	620.4	32.36	139	0.0855	0.1239	8.75	7.44	1.433 98
290	1379.6	1245.7	623.4	32.10	105	0.1136	0.1239	11.54	9.84	1.432 52
295	1375.1	1234.0	626.5	31.85	81.4	0.1476	0.1239	14.95	12.79	1.431 07
300	1370.5	1222.4	629.6	31.60	64.1	0.1879	0.1238	19.04	16.35	1.429 61
305	1366.0	1211.0	632.7	31.34	51.4	0.2348	0.1238	23.89	20.57	1.428 16
310	1361.4	1199.7	635.9	31.09	41.8	0.2887	0.1238	29.56	25.52	1.426 70
315	1356.9	1188.6	639.1	30.83	34.5	0.3497	0.1238	36.09	31.23	1.425 25
320	1352.3	11//./	642.4	30.58	28.8	0.41/9	0.1237	43.52	37.75	1.423 80
325	1347.8	1166.9	645.6	30.33	24.4	0.4933	0.1237	51.89	45.09	1.422.34
330	1343.2	1156.3	648.9	30.07	20.8	0.5/60	0.1237	61.21	53.29	1.420.89
220	1338./	1145.9	652.3	29.82	18.0	0.0058	0.1237	/1.48	62.34	1.41943
340 245	1334.1	1135.6	655.6	29.56	15.0	0.7625	0.1236	82./1	/2.24	1.41/98
345 250	1329.6	1125.5	659.0	29.31	13./	0.8661	0.1236	94.88	82.98	1.416.52
350 255	1325.0		665.9	29.06	12.1	0.9/0	0.1236	108.0	94.5	1.415 07
355	1320.3		660.2	20.00	10.0	1.095	0.1230	121.9	1100.9	
365	1311.4		672.7	20.55	9.05	1.210	0.1255	152.2	119.9	
370	1306.8		676.1		7.84	1.545		152.2	133.7	
375	1302.3		679.6		7.04	1.479		185.3	163.0	
380	1297 7		683.1		6 50	1.015		105.5	105.0	
385	1277.0		686.6		5.96	1 915				
390			690.1		5.48	2.071				
395			693.6		5.06	2.232				
400			697.1		4.69	2.397				
405			700.6		4.36	2.567				
410			704.1		4.06	2.741				
415			707.6		3.79	2.920				
420			711.1		3.55	3.102				
425			714.5		3.33	3.290				
430			718.0		3.13	3.481				
435			721.5		2.95	3.677				
440			724.9			3.877				
445			728.3			4.081				
450			731.7			4.289				
460			738.5			4.501				
470			745.2			4.717				
480			751.8							

TABLE 15. Recommended reference data for the thermophysical properties of $[C_6 mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ as a function of temperature at P = 0.1 MPa^a

Т (К)	ρ (kg m ⁻³)	$(m s^{-1})$	$(J \text{ mol}^{-1} \text{ K}^{-1})$	γ (mN m ⁻¹)	η (mPa s)	(S m^{-1})	$\lambda \pmod{(\mathrm{mW} \mathrm{m}^{-1} \mathrm{K}^{-1})}$	$10^{12}D_+$ (m ² s ⁻¹)	$10^{12}D_{-}$ (m ² s ⁻¹)	n
490			758.2							
500			764.5							
510			770.7							
520			776.7							
530			782.5							
540			788.1							
298.15	1372.2	1226.7	629.1	31.69	70.4	0.217	0.124	22.5	19.0	1.430 08
	±1.1	± 1.0	±2.2	±0.35	±1.9	±0.006	±0.006	±1.2	±1.8	±0.001 47
	0.08%	0.08%	0.35%	1.1%	2.7%	2.6%	4.5%	5.3%	7.7%	0.1%

TABLE 15. (Continued.)

^aWith expanded uncertainty at a 0.95 level of confidence (k = 2).

Whenever possible, water-free values were obtained. Details of the temperature range of each property reference equation and their uncertainty are conveniently displayed in the recommended reference data table (Table 15) and in the supplementary material.

As an inter-property consistency check for the ionic liquid, the Walden rule was found to be obeyed.

8. Supplementary Material

The supplementary material contains tables of all the available experimental data up to mid-July 2020 for the thermophysical properties of $[C_6\text{mim}][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$. Methods of measurement, temperature and pressure ranges, quoted uncertainty, sample purity, and water content are identified. It also includes the numerical coefficients of the VFT (Vogel-Fulcher-Tammann) equation for the viscosity, electrical conductivity, and self-diffusion of $[C_6\text{mim}][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$, as well as Table S11 with all the recommended reference equations for the different properties.

9. Authors' Contributions

The new experimental measurements were performed by X.P. and M.J.V.L. (thermal conductivity), C.S.G.P.Q. (refractive index), Å.F.S. (density and speed of sound), and M.S.C.S.S. (surface tension), who also contributed to the respective section analysis. Viscosity, electrical conductivity, and rheology measurements were performed by F.J.V.S. X.P. was responsible for the collection and comparison of available literature data, in conjunction with Carlos Nieto de Castro. The establishment of the recommended reference correlations and data was performed by F.J.V.S., M.J.V.L., X.P., and C.A.N.C., who wrote the final version of this manuscript.

Acknowledgments

The authors would like to thank many colleagues for discussions on the quality of thermophysical property measurements in ionic liquids, both at the level of the IATP—International Association for Transport Properties—and in many conferences dedicated to ionic liquids over the past five years. This work pays a tribute to the late Professor Ken Marsh, who directed the IUPAC project in the first decade of this century, fundamental for the general discussion in a new working field, the ionic liquids, and to the late Professor Joseph Kestin and Professor Sir William Wakeham, who introduced the senior author (CANC), at the level of IUPAC Subcommittee on Transport Properties, to the importance of excellent measurements and data for chemical process design and property prediction and estimation.

C. S. G. P. Queirós and X. Paredes gratefully acknowledge FCT—Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia—for their Ph.D. under Grant No. PD/BD/52409/2013 and PDoc under Grant No. SFRH/ BPD/103352/2014. This work was partially supported by Centro de Química Estrutural (Grant Nos. UID/QUI/00100/2013, UID/QUI/ 00100/2019, and UIDB/00100/2020) and Centro de Química e Bioquímica (Grant Nos. UID/MULTI/00612/2013 and UID/MULTI/ 00612/2019), funded by FCT—Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia.

This work was carried out under the auspices of the International Association for Transport Properties.

10. Data Availability

The data that support the findings of this study are available within the article and in the supplementary material. The authors are willing to provide any additional information for sensible requests (cacastro@ciencias.ulisboa.pt).

11. References

¹C. A Nieto de Castro, "Thermophysical properties of ionic liquids: Do we know how to measure them accurately?," J. Mol. Liq. **156**, 10 (2010).

²J. M. P. França, C. A. Nieto de Castro, V. B. Nunes, and M. M. L. Matos Lopes, "The influence of thermophysical properties of ionic liquids in chemical process design," J. Chem. Eng. Data **54**, 2569 (2009).

³K. N. Marsh, J. F. Brennecke, R. D. Chirico, M. Frenkel, A. Heintz, J. W. Magee, C. J. Peters, L. P. N. Rebelo, and K. R. Seddon, "Thermodynamic and thermophysical properties of the reference ionic liquid: 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluor-omethyl)sulfonyl amide (including mixtures) Part 1. Experimental methods and results (IUPAC Technical Report)," Pure Appl. Chem. **81**, 781 (2009).

⁴R. D. Chirico, V. Diky, J. W. Magee, M. Frenkel, and K. N. Marsh, "Thermodynamic and thermophysical properties of the reference ionic liquid: 1-hexyl-3methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethyl)sulfonyl amide (including mixtures). Part 2. Critical evaluation and recommended property values (IUPAC Technical Report)," Pure Appl. Chem. **81**, 791 (2009).

ARTICLE

⁵J. A. Widegren and J. W. Magee, "Density, viscosity, speed of sound, and electrolytic conductivity for the ionic liquid 1-Hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(tri-fluoromethylsulfonyl)imide and its mixtures with water," J. Chem. Eng. Data 52, 2331 (2007).

⁶F. J. V. Santos, C. A. Nieto de Castro, P. J. F. Mota, and A. P. C. Ribeiro, "Electrical Conductivity and Viscosity of 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethyl-sulfonyl)imide, [C₆mim][(CF₃SO₂)₂N] (CAS-RN# 382150-50-7)," Int. J. Thermophys. **31**, 1869 (2010).

⁷I. M. S. Lampreia and C. A. Nieto de Castro, "A new and reliable calibration method for vibrating tube densimeters over wide ranges of temperature and pressure," J. Chem. Thermodyn. **43**, 537 (2011).

⁸F. E. B. Bioucas, S. I. C. Vieira, M. J. V. Lourenço, F. J. V. Santos, M. L. M. Lopes, C. A. Nieto de Castro, and K. Massonne, "[C₂mim][CH₃SO₃]: A suitable new heat transfer fluid? Part 1. Thermophysical and toxicological properties," Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. **57**, 8541 (2018).

⁹C. S. G. P. Queirós, X. Paredes, T. F. S. Avelino, D. E. N. Bastos, M. Ferreira, F. J. V. Santos, A. F. Santos, M. L. M. Lopes, M. J. V. Lourenço, H. Pereira, and C. A. Nieto de Castro, "The influence of water on the thermophysical properties of 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium acetate," J. Mol. Liq. **297**, 111925 (2020).

¹⁰J. A. Widegren, A. Laesecke, and J. W. Magee, "The effect of dissolved water on the viscosities of hydrophobic room-temperature ionic liquids," Chem. Commun. 12, 1610 (2005).

¹¹I. M. S. Lampreia, Â. F. S. Santos, M. L. C. Moita, A. O. Figueiras, and J. C. R. Reis, "Ultrasound speed and molar isentropic compressions of aqueous 1-propoxypropan-2-ol mixtures from T = (283.15 to 303.15) K. Influence of solute structure," J. Chem. Thermodyn. **45**, 75 (2012).

¹²M.-D. Bermúdez, A.-E. Jiménez, and G. Martínez-Nicolás, "Study of surface interactions of ionic liquids with aluminium alloys in corrosion and erosioncorrosion processes," Appl. Surf. Sci. 253, 7295 (2007).

¹³F. Zhou, Y. Liang, and W. Liu, "Ionic liquid lubricants: Designed chemistry for engineering applications," Chem. Soc. Rev. 38, 2590 (2009).

¹⁴Recommended Reference Materials for the Realization of Physicochemical Properties, edited by K. N. Marsh (Blackwell Scientific Publishing, Oxford, 1987).

¹⁵M. L. V. Ramires, C. A. Nieto de Castro, Y. Nagasaka, A. Nagashima, M. J. Assael, and W. A. Wakeham, "Standard reference data for the thermal conductivity of water," J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data 24, 1377 (1995).

¹⁶D. Lozano-Martín, S. I. Cardoso Vieira, X. Paredes, M. J. Vitoriano Lourenço, C. A. Nieto de Castro, J. V. Sengers, and K. Massonne, "Thermal conductivity of a metastable ionic liquid," <u>Molecules</u> 25, 4290 (2020).

¹⁷A. Ya. Malkin and A. I. Isayev, *Rheology: Concepts, Methods, and Applications*, 2nd ed. (ChemTec Publishing, Toronto, Canada, 2011).

¹⁸C. A. Nieto de Castro, S. F. Y. Li, A. Nagashima, R. D. Trengove, and W. A. Wakeham, "Standard reference data for the thermal conductivity of liquids," J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data **15**, 1073 (1986).

¹⁹M. L. V. Ramires, C. A. Nieto de Castro, R. A. Perkins, Y. Nagasaka, A. Nagashima, M. J. Assael, and W. A. Wakeham, "Standard reference data for the thermal conductivity of toluene over a wide range of temperature," J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data **29**, 133 (2000).

²⁰F. J. V. Santos, C. A. Nieto de Castro, J. H. Dymond, N. K. Dalaouti, M. J. Assael, and A. Nagashima, "Standard reference data for the viscosity of toluene," J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data 35, 1 (2006).

²¹M. J. Assael, S. K. Mylona, M. L. Huber, and R. A. Perkins, "Reference correlation of the thermal conductivity of toluene from the triple point to 1000 K and up to 1000 MPa," J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data **41**, 023101 (2012).

²²M. J. Assael, A. E. Kalyva, S. A. Monogenidou, M. L. Huber, R. A. Perkins, D. G. Friend, and E. F. May, "Reference values and reference correlations for the thermal conductivity and viscosity of fluids," J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data 47, 021501 (2018).
 ²³C. D. Chliatzou, M. J. Assael, K. D. Antoniadis, M. L. Huber, and W. A. Wakeham, "Reference correlations for the thermal conductivity of 13 inorganic molten salts," J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data 47, 033104 (2018).

²⁴J. V. Sengers, J. T. R. Watson, R. S. Basu, B. Kamgar-Parsi, and R. C. Hendricks, "Representative equations for the thermal conductivity of water substance," J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data 13, 893 (1984).

²⁵J. Kestin, J. V. Sengers, B. Kamgar-Parsi, and J. M. H. Levelt Sengers, "Thermophysical properties of fluid H₂O," J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data 13, 175 (1984). ²⁶A. Kazakov, J. W. Magee, R. D. Chirico, E. Paulechka, V. Diky, C. D. Muzny, K. Kroenlein, and M. Frenkel, *NIST Standard Reference Database 147: NIST Ionic Liquids Database (ILThermo), Version 2.0* (National Institute of Standards and Technology, Gaithersburg, MD, 20899), http://ilthermo.boulder.nist.gov, updated on 14 July 2020.

²⁷J. Kumelan, A. Perez-Salado Kamps, D. Tuma, and G. Maurer, "Solubility of CO₂ in the ionic liquid [hmim][Tf₂N]," J. Chem. Thermodyn. **38**, 1396 (2006).

²⁸M. E. Kandil, K. N. Marsh, and A. R. H. Goodwin, "Measurement of the viscosity, density, and electrical conductivity of 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluor-osulfonyl)imide at temperatures between (288 and 433) K and pressures below 50 MPa," J. Chem. Eng. Data **52**, 2382 (2007).

 29 J. M. S. S. Esperança, H. J. R. Guedes, J. N. C. Lopes, and L. P. N. Rebelo, "Pressure-density-temperature (*p*-*p*-*T*) surface of [C₆mim][NTf₂]," J. Chem. Eng. Data 53, 867 (2008).

³⁰S. Lago, H. Rodríguez, A. Soto, and A. Arce, "Deterpenation of citrus essential oil by liquid-liquid extraction with 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide ionic liquids," J. Chem. Eng. Data 56, 1273 (2011).

³¹H. Shirota, T. Mandai, H. Fukazawa, and T. Kato, "Comparison between dicationic and monocationic ionic liquids: Liquid density, thermal properties, surface tension, and shear viscosity," J. Chem. Eng. Data **56**, 2453 (2011).

³²M. F. C. Gomes, L. Pison, A. S. Pensado, and A. A. H. Padua, "Using ethane and butane as probes to the molecular structure of 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium bis [(trifluoromethyl)sulfonyl] imide ionic liquids," Faraday Discuss. 154, 41 (2012).
 ³³E. J. González, Á. Domínguez, and E. A. Macedo, "Excess properties of binary mixtures containing 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl) imide ionic liquid and polar organic compounds," J. Chem. Thermodyn. 47, 300 (2012).

³⁴M. B. Oliveira, M. Domínguez-Pérez, M. G. Freire, F. Llovell, O. Cabeza, J. A. Lopes-Da-Silva, L. F. Vega, and J. A. P. Coutinho, "Surface tension of binary mixtures of 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide ionic liquids: Experimental measurements and soft-SAFT modeling," J. Phys. Chem. B 116, 12133 (2012).

³⁵J. Safarov, R. Hamidova, S. Zepik, H. Schmidt, I. Kul, A. Shahverdiyev, and E. Hassel, "Thermophysical properties of 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide at high temperatures and pressures," J. Mol. Liq. **187**, 137 (2013).

³⁶J. C. F. Diogo, F. J. P. Caetano, J. M. N. A. Fareleira, and W. A. Wakeham, "Viscosity measurements of three ionic liquids using the vibrating wire technique," Fluid Phase Equilib. 353, 76 (2013).

³⁷M. Iguchi, Y. Hiraga, Y. Sato, T. M. Aida, M. Watanabe, and R. L. Smith, Jr., "Measurement of high-pressure densities and atmospheric viscosities of ionic liquids: 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide and 1hexyl-3-methylimidazolium chloride," J. Chem. Eng. Data **59**, 709 (2014).

³⁸K. R. Harris and M. Kanakubo, "Self-diffusion, velocity cross-correlation, distinct diffusion and resistance coefficients of the ionic liquid [BMIM][Tf₂N] at high pressure," Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 17, 23977 (2015).
 ³⁹M. Kanakubo and K. R. Harris, "Density of 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium

³⁹M. Kanakubo and K. R. Harris, "Density of 1-butyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethanesulfonyl)amide and 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethanesulfonyl)amide over an extended pressure range up to 250 MPa," J. Chem. Eng. Data **60**, 1408 (2015).

⁴⁰A. Nazet, S. Sokolov, T. Sonnleitner, T. Makino, M. Kanakubo, and R. Buchner, "Densities, viscosities and conductivities of the imidazolium ionic liquids [Emim] [Ac], [Emim][FAP], [Bmim][BETI], [Bmim][FSI], [Hmim][TFSI], and [Omim] [TFSI]," J. Chem. Eng. Data **60**, 2400 (2015).

⁴¹J. J. Fillion, H. Xia, M. A. DeSilva, M. Quiroz-Guzman, and J. F. Brennecke, "Phase transitions, decomposition temperatures, viscosities and densities of phosphonium, ammonium and imidazolium ionic liquids with aprotic heterocyclic anions," J. Chem. Eng. Data **61**, 2897 (2016).

⁴²J. Skowronek, M. Dzida, E. Zorebski, M. Chorążewski, S. Jezak, M. Żarska, M. Zorębski, P. Goodrich, and J. Jacquemin, "High pressure speed of sound and related thermodynamic properties of 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium bis[(trifluoromethyl) sulfonyl]imides (from 1-propyl- to 1-hexyl-)," J. Chem. Eng. Data 61, 3794 (2016).
 ⁴³L. Xue, E. Gurung, G. Tamas, Y. P. Koh, M. Shadeck, S. L. Simon, M. Maroncelli, and E. L. Quitevis, "Effect of alkyl chain branching on physicochemical properties of imidazolium-based ionic liquids," J. Chem. Eng. Data 61, 1078 (2016).

⁴⁴M. Zorebski, E. Zorebski, M. Dzida, J. Skowronek, S. Jezak, P. Goodrich, and J. Jacquemin, "Ultrasonic relaxation study of 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium-based room-temperature ionic liquids: Probing the role of alkyl chain length in the cation," J. Phys. Chem. B **120**, 3569 (2016).

⁴⁵J. J. Fillion and J. F. Brennecke, "Viscosity of ionic liquid-ionic liquid mixtures,"
 J. Chem. Eng. Data 62, 1884 (2017).

⁴⁶A. Andresová, M. Bendová, J. Schwarz, Z. Wagner, and J. Feder-Kubis, "Influence of the alkyl side chain length on the thermophysical properties of chiral ionic liquids with a (1R,2S,5R)-(-)-menthol substituent and data analysis by means of mathematical gnostics," J. Mol. Liq. **242**, 336 (2017).

⁴⁷M. Vranes, S. Papovic, S. Rackov, K. Alenezi, S. Gadzuric, A. Tot, and B. Pilic, "Thermophysical and electrochemical properties of 1-alkyl-3-(3-butenyl)imidazolium bromide ionic liquids," J. Chem. Thermodyn. **139**, 105871 (2019).

⁴⁸T. Song, M. J. Lubben, and J. F. Brennecke, "Solubility of argon, krypton and xenon in ionic liquids," Fluid Phase Equilib. **504**, 112334 (2020).

⁴⁹S. V. Dzyuba and R. A. Bartsch, "Influence of structural variations in 1-alkyl(aralkyl)-3-methylimidazolium hexafluorophosphates and bis(trifluromethylsulfonyl)imides on physical properties of the ionic liquids," <u>ChemPhysChem</u> 3, 161 (2002).

⁵⁰B. D. Fitchett, T. N. Knepp, and J. C. Conboy, "1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(perfluoroalkylsulfonyl)imide water-immiscible ionic liquids," J. Electrochem. Soc. 151, E219 (2004).

⁵¹S. N. V. K. Aki, B. R. Mellein, E. M. Saurer, and J. F. Brennecke, "High-pressure phase behavior of carbon dioxide with imidazolium-based ionic liquids," J. Phys. Chem. B 108, 20355 (2004).

⁵²R. Gomes de Azevedo, J. M. S. S. Esperança, J. Szydlowski, Z. P. Visak, P. F. Pires, H. J. R. Guedes, and L. P. N. Rebelo, "Thermophysical and thermodynamic properties of ionic liquids over an extended pressure range: [bmim][NTf₂] and [hmim][NTf₂]," J. Chem. Thermodyn. **37**, 888 (2005).

⁵³R. Kato and J. Gmehling, "Systems with ionic liquids: Measurement of VLE and y[∞] data and prediction of their thermodynamic behavior using original UNIFAC, mod. UNIFAC(Do) and COSMO-RS(OI)," J. Chem. Thermodyn. **37**, 603 (2005).
 ⁵⁴H. Tokuda, K. Hayamizu, K. Ishii, M. A. B. H. Susan, and M. Watanabe, "Physicochemical properties and structures of room temperature ionic liquids. 2. Variation of alkyl chain length in imidazolium cation," J. Phys. Chem. B **109**, 6103 (2005).

⁵⁵J. Lachwa, P. Morgado, J. M. S. S. Esperanca, H. J. R. Guedes, J. N. C. Lopes, and L. P. N. Rebelo, "Fluid-phase behavior of {1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(tri-fluoromethylsulfonyl) imide, [C₆mim][NTf₂], + C₂-C₈ *n*-alcohol} mixtures: Liquid-liquid equilibrium and excess volumes," J. Chem. Eng. Data 51, 2215 (2006).
 ⁵⁶H. Tokuda, S. Tsuzuki, M. A. B. H. Susan, K. Hayamizu, and M. Watanabe, "How ionic are room-temperature ionic liquids? An indicator of the physicochemical properties," J. Phys. Chem. B 110, 19593 (2006).

⁵⁷J. Jacquemin, R. Ge, P. Nancarrow, D. W. Rooney, M. F. C. Gomes, A. A. H. Pádua, and C. Hardacre, "Prediction of ionic liquid properties. I. Volumetric properties as a function of temperature at 0.1 MPa," J. Chem. Eng. Data **53**, 716 (2008).

⁵⁸G. McHale, C. Hardacre, R. Ge, N. Doy, R. W. K. Allen, J. M. MacInnes, M. R. Bown, and M. I. Newton, "Density-viscosity product of small-volume ionic liquid samples using quartz crystal impedance analysis," Anal. Chem. **80**, 5806 (2008).

⁵⁹A. Muhammad, M. I. Abdul Mutalib, C. D. Wilfred, T. Murugesan, and A. Shafeeq, "Thermophysical properties of 1-hexyl-3-methyl imidazolium based ionic liquids with tetrafluoroborate, hexafluorophosphate and bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide anions," J. Chem. Thermodyn. **40**, 1433 (2008).

⁶⁰M. Tariq, P. A. S. Forte, M. F. C. Gomes, J. N. C. Lopes, and L. P. N. Rebelo, "Densities and refractive indices of imidazolium- and phosphonium-based ionic liquids: Effect of temperature, alkyl chain length, and anion," J. Chem. Thermodyn. **41**, 790 (2009).

⁶¹A. Ahosseini, B. Sensenich, L. R. Weatherley, and A. M. Scurto, "Phase equilibrrium, volumetric, and interfacial properties of the ionic liquid, 1-hexyl-3methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide and 1-octene," J. Chem. Eng. Data **55**, 1611 (2010).

⁶²A. P. Fröba, M. H. Rausch, K. Krzeminski, D. Assenbaum, P. Wasserscheid, and A. Leipertz, "Thermal conductivity of ionic liquids: Measurement and prediction," Int. J. Thermophys. **31**, 2059 (2010). ⁶³C. Kolbeck, J. Lehmann, K. R. J. Lovelock, T. Cremer, N. Paape, P. Wasserscheid, A. P. Fröba, F. Maier, and H.-P. Steinrück, "Density and surface tension of ionic liquids," J. Phys. Chem. B **114**, 17025 (2010).

⁶⁴M. Tariq, A. P. Serro, J. L. Mata, B. Saramago, J. M. S. S. Esperança, J. N. Canongia Lopes, and L. P. N. Rebelo, "High-temperature surface tension and density measurements of 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium bistriflamide ionic liquids," Fluid Phase Equilib. **294**, 131 (2010).

⁶⁵N. M. Yunus, M. I. Abdul Mutalib, Z. Man, M. A. Bustam, and T. Murugesan, "Thermophysical properties of 1-alkylpyridinum bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide ionic liquids," J. Chem. Thermodyn. **42**, 491 (2010).

⁶⁶M. M. Akbar and T. Murugesan, "Thermophysical properties for the binary mixtures of 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide [hmim][Tf₂N]+N-methyldiethanolamine (MDEA) at temperatures (303.15 to 323.15) K," J. Mol. Liq. **169**, 95 (2012).

⁶⁷R. G. Seoane, S. Corderí, E. Gómez, N. Calvar, E. J. González, E. A. Macedo, and Á. Domínguez, "Temperature dependence and structural influence on the thermophysical properties of eleven commercial ionic liquids," Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. 51, 2492 (2012).

⁶⁸E. A. Cade, D. R. Saeva, and M. M. Hoffmann, "Comparing composition- and temperature-dependent excess molar volumes of binary systems involving ionic liquids," J. Chem. Eng. Data **59**, 1892 (2014).

 69 M. Gonzalez-Miquel, J. Bedia, J. Palomar, and F. Rodriguez, "Solubility and Diffusivity of CO₂ in [hxmim][NTf₂], [omim][NTf₂], and [dcmim][NTf₂] at *T* = (298.15, 308.15, and 323.15) K and Pressures up to 20 bar," J. Chem. Eng. Data **59**, 212 (2014).

⁷⁰H. Matsuda, Y. Norizuki, M. Kawai, K. Kurihara, K. Tochigi, and K. Ochi, "Liquid liquid equilibria for extraction of citrus essential oil using ionic liquids," J. Solution Chem. **43**, 1561 (2014).

 71 M. Souckova, J. Klomfar, and J. Patek, "Measurements and group contribution analysis of 0.1 MPa densities for still poorly studied ionic liquids with the [PF₆] and [NTf₂] anions," J. Chem. Thermodyn. 77, 31 (2014).

⁷²C. M. Tenney, M. Massel, J. M. Mayes, M. Sen, J. F. Brennecke, and E. J. Maginn, "A computational and experimental study of the heat transfer properties of nine different ionic liquids," J. Chem. Eng. Data **59**, 391 (2014).

⁷³M. S. Calado, A. S. H. Branco, J. C. F. Diogo, J. M. N. A. Fareleira, and Z. P. Visak, "Solubility, volumetric properties and viscosity of the sustainable systems of liquid poly(ethylene glycol) 200 with imidazoliumand phosphonium-based ionic liquids: Cation and anion effects," J. Chem. Thermodyn. **80**, 79 (2015).

⁷⁴E. J. González, P. F. Requejo, F. M. Maia, Á. Domínguez, and E. A. Macedo, "Solubility, density and excess molar volume of binary mixtures of aromatic compounds and common ionic liquids at T = 283.15 K and atmospheric pressure," Phys. Chem. Liq. **53**, 419 (2015).

⁷⁵M. G. Montalbán, C. L. Bolívar, F. G. Díaz Baños, and G. Víllora, "Effect of temperature, anion, and alkyl chain length on the density and refractive index of 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium-based ionic liquids," J. Chem. Eng. Data **60**, 1986 (2015).

⁷⁶R. Salinas, J. Pla-Franco, E. Lladosa, and J. B. Montón, "Density, speed of sound, viscosity, and excess properties of binary mixtures formed by ethanol and bis(tri-fluorosulfonyl)imide-based ionic liquids," J. Chem. Eng. Data **60**, 525 (2015).

⁷⁷M. G. Montalbán, R. Trigo, M. Collado-González, F. G. Díaz-Baños, and G. Víllora, "Liquid-liquid equilibria for ternary mixtures of 1-alkyl-3-methyl imidazolium bis{(trifluoromethyl)sulfonyl}imides, *n*-hexane and organic compounds at 303.15 K and 0.1 MPa," J. Chem. Thermodyn. **103**, 403 (2016).
 ⁷⁸S. Papovic, M. Bester-Rogac, M. Vranes, and S. Gadzuric, "The effect of the alkyl

⁷⁸S. Papovic, M. Bester-Rogac, M. Vranes, and S. Gadzuric, "The effect of the alkyl chain length on physicochemical features of (ionic liquids + γ-butyrolactone) binary mixtures," J. Chem. Thermodyn. **99**, 1 (2016).

⁷⁹N. G. Polikhronidi, R. G. Batyrova, I. M. Abdulagatov, J. W. Magee, and J. Wu, "Thermodynamic properties at saturation derived from experimental two-phase isochoric heat capacity of 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis[(trifluoromethyl)sulfonylimide," Int. J. Thermophys. **37**, 103 (2016).

⁸⁰C. Frez, G. J. Diebold, C. D. Tran, and S. Yu, "Determination of thermal diffusivities, thermal conductivities, and sound speeds of room-temperature ionic liquids by the transient grating technique," J. Chem. Eng. Data 51, 1250 (2006).
⁸¹A. V. Blokhin, Y. U. Paulechka, and G. J. Kabo, "Thermodynamic properties of [C₆mim][NTf₂] in the condensed state," J. Chem. Eng. Data 51, 1377 (2006).

J. Phys. Chem. Ref. Data **49**, 043101 (2020); doi: 10.1063/5.0023160 Published by AIP Publishing on behalf of the National Institute of Standards and Technology ⁸²Y. Shimizu, Y. Ohte, Y. Yamamura, K. Saito, and T. Atake, "Low-temperature heat capacity of room-temperature ionic liquid, 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide," J. Phys. Chem. B **110**, 13970 (2006).

⁸³S. Bochmann and G. Hefter, "Isobaric heat capacities of the ionic liquids [C_n mim] [Tf₂N] (n = 6, 8) from (323 to 573) K at 10 MPa," J. Chem. Eng. Data **55**, 1808 (2010).

⁸⁴M. A. A. Rocha, M. Bastos, J. A. P. Coutinho, and L. M. N. B. F. Santos, "Heat capacities at 298.15 K of the extended $[C_nC_1im][Ntf_2]$ ionic liquid series," J. Chem. Thermodyn. **53**, 140 (2012).

⁸⁵J. M. Crosthwaite, M. J. Muldoon, J. K. Dixon, J. L. Anderson, and J. F. Brennecke, "Phase transition and decomposition temperatures, heat capacities and viscosities of pyridinium ionic liquids," J. Chem. Thermodyn. **37**, 559 (2005).

⁸⁶D. G. Archer, "Thermodynamic properties of 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide," NISTIR No. 6645, 2006,

⁸⁷A. Diedrichs and J. Gmehling, "Measurement of heat capacities of ionic liquids by differential scanning calorimetry," Fluid Phase Equilib. **244**, 68 (2006).

⁸⁸R. Ge, C. Hardacre, J. Jacquemin, P. Nancarrow, and D. W. Rooney, "Heat capacities of ionic liquids as a function of temperature at 0.1 MPa. Measurement and prediction," J. Chem. Eng. Data 53, 2148 (2008).

⁸⁹T. J. Hughes, T. Syed, B. F. Graham, K. N. Marsh, and E. F. May, "Heat capacities and low temperature thermal transitions of 1-hexyl and 1-octyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide," J. Chem. Eng. Data 56, 2153 (2011).

⁹⁰E. Gómez, N. Calvar, Á. Domínguez, and E. A. Macedo, "Thermal analysis and heat capacities of 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium ionic liquids with NTf₂, TFO⁻, and DCA⁻ anions," Ind. Eng. Chem. Res. **52**, 2103 (2013).

⁹¹N. G. Polikhronidi, R. G. Batyrova, I. M. Abdulagatov, J. W. Magee, and J. T. Wu, "Saturated and compressed liquid heat capacity at constant volume for 1-hexyl-3methylimidazolium bis[(trifluoromethyl)sulfonyl]imide)," Phys. Chem. Liq. **52**, 657 (2014).

92P. J. Carvalho, M. G. Freire, I. M. Marrucho, A. J. Queimada, and J. A. P. Coutinho, "Surface tensions for the 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluorome-thylsulfonyl)imide ionic liquids," J. Chem. Eng. Data 53, 1346 (2008).

⁹³R. Osada, T. Hoshino, K. Okada, Y. Ohmasa, and M. Yao, "Surface tension of room temperature ionic liquids measured by dynamic light scattering," J. Chem. Phys. 130, 184705 (2009).

⁹⁴J. Klomfar, M. Součková, and J. Pátek, "Surface tension measurements with validated accuracy for four 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium based ionic liquids," J. Chem. Thermodyn. **42**, 323 (2010).

95 P. Kilaru, G. A. Baker, and P. Scovazzo, "Density and surface tension measurements of imidazolium-, quaternary phosphonium-, and ammonium-based roomtemperature ionic liquids: Data and correlations," J. Chem. Eng. Data 52, 2306 (2007).

⁹⁶A. Ahosseini and A. M. Scurto, "Viscosity of imidazolium-based ionic liquids at elevated pressures: Cation and anion effects," Int. J. Thermophys. 29, 1222 (2008).
 ⁹⁷M. Tariq, P. J. Carvalho, J. A. P. Coutinho, I. M. Marrucho, J. N. C. Lopes, and L. P.

N. Rebelo, "Viscosity of (C_2-C_{14}) 1-alkyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide ionic liquids in an extended temperature range," Fluid Phase Equilib. **301**, 22 (2011).

⁹⁸J. C. F. Diogo, F. J. P. Caetano, J. M. N. A. Fareleira, and W. A. Wakeham, "Viscosity measurements on ionic liquids: A cautionary tale," Int. J. Thermophys. 35, 1615 (2014).

⁹⁹A. Haghani, D. R. Saeva, H. Iloukhani, and M. M. Hoffmann, "Comparing composition- and temperature-dependent viscosities of binary systems involving ionic liquids," J. Chem. Eng. Data **60**, 3272 (2015).

¹⁰⁰J. J. Fillion, J. E. Bennett, and J. F. Brennecke, "The viscosity and density of ionic liquid + tetraglyme mixtures and the effect of tetraglyme on CO₂ solubility," J. Chem. Eng. Data **62**, 608 (2017).

¹⁰¹A. Ahosseini, E. Ortega, B. Sensenich, and A. M. Scurto, "Viscosity of *n*-alkyl-3-methyl-imidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide ionic liquids saturated with compressed CO₂," Fluid Phase Equilib. **286**, 72 (2009).

¹⁰²A. Ahosseini, L. R. Weatherley, and A. M. Scurto, "Viscosity and diffusivity for the ionic liquid 1-hexyl-3-methyl-imidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide with 1-octene," J. Chem. Eng. Data 56, 3715 (2011).

¹⁰³A. Ahosseini, W. Ren, L. R. Weatherley, and A. M. Scurto, "Viscosity and selfdiffusivity of ionic liquids with compressed hydrofluorocarbons: 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)amide and 1,1,1,2-tetrafluoroethane," Fluid Phase Equilib. **437**, 34 (2017).

¹⁰⁴C. A. Nieto de Castro, F. J. Vieira dos Santos, J. M. N. A. Fareleira, and W. A. Wakeham, "Metrology of viscosity: Have we learned enough?," J. Chem. Eng. Data 54, 171 (2009).

105 J. A. Widegren, E. M. Saurer, K. N. Marsh, and J. W. Magee, "Electrolytic conductivity of four imidazolium-based room-temperature ionic liquids and the effect of a water impurity," J. Chem. Thermodyn. 37, 569 (2005).

¹⁰⁶J. Leys, M. Wübbenhorst, C. Preethy Menon, R. Rajesh, J. Thoen, C. Glorieux, P. Nockemann, B. Thijs, K. Binnemans, and S. Longuemart, "Temperature dependence of the electrical conductivity of imidazolium ionic liquids," J. Chem. Phys. **128**, 064509 (2008).

¹⁰⁷R. Ge, C. Hardacre, P. Nancarrow, and D. W. Rooney, "Thermal conductivities of ionic liquids over the temperature range from 293 K to 353 K," J. Chem. Eng. Data 52, 1819 (2007).

¹⁰⁸A. P. C. Ribeiro, S. I. C. Vieira, P. Goodrich, C. Hardacre, M. J. V. Lourenço, and C. A. Nieto de Castro, "Thermal conductivity of $[C_{u}mim][(CF_3SO_2)_2N]$ and $[C_4mim][BF_4]$ Ionanofluids with carbon nanotubes: Measurement, theory and structural characterization," J. Nanofluids **2**, 55 (2014).

¹⁰⁹A. S. H. Branco, M. S. Calado, J. M. N. A. Fareleira, Z. P. Visak, and J. N. Canongia Lopes, "Refraction index and molar refraction in ionic liquid/PEG200 solutions," J. Solution Chem. 44, 431 (2015).

¹¹⁰J. Saien, M. Razi Asrami, and S. Salehzadeh, "Phase Equilibrium measurements and thermodynamic modelling of {water + phenol + [Hmim][NTf₂]} ionic liquid system at several temperatures," J. Chem. Thermodyn. **119**, 76 (2018).

¹¹¹S. Corderí, B. González, N. Calvar, and E. Gómez, "Ionic liquids as solvents to separate the azeotropic mixture hexane/ethanol," Fluid Phase Equilib. **337**, 11 (2013).

¹¹²X. Tao, T. Yin, C. Xu, and W. Shen, "Critical phenomena in {bromobenzene + 1hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide} binary solution," Fluid Phase Equilib. 415, 184 (2016).

¹¹³H. J. V. Tyrrell and K. R. Harris, Diffusion in Liquids: A Theoretical and Experimental Study (Butterworths, London, 1984).

¹¹⁴J. Barthel, H. Krienke, and W. Kunz, *Physical Chemistry of Electrolyte Solutions: Modern Aspects*, Topics in Physical Chemistry Vol. 5 (Deutsche Bunsengesellschaft, Steinkopff, Darmstadt; Springer, New York, 1998).

¹¹⁵C. D'Agostino, M. D. Mantle, C. L. Mullan, C. Hardacre, and L. F. Gladden, "Diffusion, ion pairing and aggregation in 1-ethyl-3-methylimidazolium-based ionic liquids studied by ¹H and ¹⁹F PFG NMR: Effect of temperature, anion and glucose dissolution," ChemPhysChem **19**, 1081 (2018).

¹¹⁶G. Feng, M. Chen, S. Bi, Z. A. H. Goodwin, E. B. Postnikov, N. Brilliantov, M. Urbakh, and A. A. Kornyshev, "Free and bound states of ions in ionic liquids, conductivity, and underscreening paradox," Phys. Rev. X 9, 021024 (2019).

¹¹⁷K. R. Harris, "Can the transport properties of molten salts and ionic liquids be used to determine ion association?," J. Phys. Chem. B **120**, 12135 (2016).

¹¹⁸A. Martinelli, M. Maréchal, Å. Östlund, and J. Cambedouzou, "Insights into the interplay between molecular structure and diffusional motion in 1-alkyl-3-meth-ylimidazoliumionic liquids: A combined PFG NMR and X-ray scattering study," Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. **15**, 5510 (2013).

¹¹⁹W. Xu, E. I. Cooper, and C. A. Angell, "Ionic Liquids: ion mobilities, glass temperatures, and fragilities," J. Phys. Chem. B **107**, 6170 (2003).

¹²⁰M. Yoshizawa, W. Xu, and C. A. Angell, "Ionic liquids by proton transfer: Vapor pressure, conductivity, and the relevance of $\Delta p K_a$ from aqueous solutions," J. Am. Chem. Soc. **125**, 15411 (2003).

¹²¹C. A. Angell, N. Byrne, and J.-P. Belieres, "Parallel developments in aprotic and protic ionic liquids: Physical chemistry and applications," Acc. Chem. Res. 40, 1228 (2007).

¹²²C. Schreiner, S. Zugmann, R. Hartl, and H. J. Gores, "Fractional Walden rule for ionic liquids: Examples from recent measurements and a critique of the so-called ideal KCl line for the Walden plot," J. Chem. Eng. Data 55, 1784 (2010).

¹²³K. R. Harris, "On the use of the Angell–Walden equation to determine the 'ionicity' of molten salts and ionic liquids," J. Phys. Chem. B **123**, 7014 (2019).

¹²⁴M. P. Shevelyova, D. H. Zaitsau, Y. U. Paulechka, A. V. Blokhin, and G. J. Kabo, "Solidliquid equilibrium and activity coefficients for caprolactam + 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide and cyclohexanone oxime + 1-hexyl-3-methylimidazolium bis(trifluoromethylsulfonyl)imide," J. Chem. Eng. Data **52**, 1360 (2007). ¹²⁵P. Wachter, C. Schreiner, H.-G. Schweiger, and H. J. Gores, "Determination of phase transition points of ionic liquids by combination of thermal analysis and

conductivity measurements at very low heating and cooling rates," J. Chem. Thermodyn. 42, 900 (2010).

¹²⁶A. S. M. C. Rodrigues, H. F. D. Almeida, M. G. Freire, J. A. Lopes-da-Silva, J. A. P. Coutinho, and L. M. N. B. F. Santos, "The effect of n vs. *iso* Isomerization on the thermophysical properties of aromatic and non-aromatic ionic liquids," Fluid Phase Equilib. **423**, 190 (2016).